

University of Alabama at Birmingham UAB Digital Commons

All ETDs from UAB

UAB Theses & Dissertations

2023

Gender Differences in Clinical Profiles of Children and Adolescents Referred for an Autism Spectrum Disorder Evaluation

Jeremy J. Cottle University Of Alabama At Birmingham

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection

Part of the Arts and Humanities Commons

Recommended Citation

Cottle, Jeremy J., "Gender Differences in Clinical Profiles of Children and Adolescents Referred for an Autism Spectrum Disorder Evaluation" (2023). *All ETDs from UAB*. 54. https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection/54

This content has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of the UAB Digital Commons, and is provided as a free open access item. All inquiries regarding this item or the UAB Digital Commons should be directed to the UAB Libraries Office of Scholarly Communication.

GENDER DIFFERENCES IN CLINICAL PROFILES OF CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS REFERRED FOR AN AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER EVALUATION

by

JEREMY J. COTTLE

SARAH O'KELLEY, COMMITTEE CHAIR ANNE BRISENDINE KRISTI GUEST SYLVIE MRUG

A THESIS

Submitted to the graduate faculty of the University of Alabama at Birmingham, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

GENDER DIFFERENCES IN CLINICAL PROFILES OF CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS REFERRED FOR AN AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER EVALUATION

JEREMY J. COTTLE

MEDICAL CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

ABSTRACT

The current study aimed to examine sex differences in clinical profiles of children and adolescents referred for an ASD evaluation, including ASD symptoms and associated clinical features. Specifically, the study aimed to include females who may be mis- or under-diagnosed by current ASD diagnostic procedures in order to characterize this phenotypically diverse population. Participants included 1,099 children and adolescents who were referred for an ASD evaluation at a tertiary care clinic. In this sample, 276 participants (25.11%) were female, 602 participants (54.8%) were diagnosed with ASD, and the average age was 5.97 years old (SD = 3.60). Independent samples t-tests, two-way factorial ANOVAs, and chi-square tests of independence were used to evaluate group differences in ASD symptom presentation as measured by the ADOS and ADI-R, as well as group differences in cognitive, adaptive, language, and fine motor skills. Results indicated that females exhibited a greater gap between age of first concern and age at evaluation, and males were more likely to be diagnosed with ASD at the time of evaluation. Females exhibited lower RRB and Social Affect severity scores on the ADOS as well as lower likelihood of reaching or exceeding the diagnostic cut-off for the RRB domain on the ADI-R compared to males. No sex differences were identified for associated clinical features. These findings suggest that there are quantifiable sex differences in ASD clinical presentation among individuals referred for an ASD evaluation, even when the

sample is expanded to include those who may otherwise be missed by potentially malebiased diagnostic instruments. Future research should continue to examine sex differences in clinical presentation to elucidate characteristics of the female autism phenotype and promote early and accurate referral and evaluation.

Keywords: autism spectrum disorder, ASD, sex

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	ii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
INTRODUCTION	1
Theories on Sex Differences	2
Sex Differences in Associated Features of ASD Current Study Aims and Hypotheses	
METHOD	17
Participants Measures Demographic Variables ASD Diagnosis and Symptoms Level of Functioning Language Skills Motor Skills Sensory Processing Procedures ASD Database Data Analysis	17 18 21 25 27 28 30 30 31
RESULTS	34
Preliminary Analyses ASD Symptoms and Processes Associated Clinical Features	34 35 38
DISCUSSION	39

ASD Symptoms	
Associated Features	
Limitations	
Implications and Future Directions	
1	
REFERENCES	51

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1 Data Analysis Variables: ASD Symptom and Level of Functioning Measures	63
2 Data Analysis Variables: Language, Motor and Sensory Measures	65
3 Participant Characteristics by Sex	67
4 Frequency of Primary Clinical Diagnoses Resulting From ASD evaluation, by Broad Diagnostic Category	68
5 Means and T-tests Examining Sex Differences in Clinical Measures	69

INTRODUCTION

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is diagnosed at a substantially lower rate in females compared to males, with an estimated female to male ratio of 1:3 (Loomes et al., 2017). Although this sex discrepancy has decreased over the years (Fombonne, 2009), it remains one of the greatest sex gaps among neurodevelopmental disorders.¹ ASD diagnosis is based on two primary clusters of criteria—social communication deficits and the presence of restricted interests and repetitive behaviors (RRBs)—that were developed based on research using predominantly male populations (Kirkovski et al., 2013; Kopp & Gillberg, 2011; Mattila et al., 2011; Hull et al., 2017). As a result, females are often excluded from the research that is used to define the ASD phenotype, leading to a predominantly male description of ASD (Ratto et al., 2018). Despite this male-centered research basis for diagnosis, researchers have started to investigate the remarkable sex discrepancy in ASD diagnosis rates. Theories supported by research over the years include the female protective effect, male vulnerability, expression and perception hypotheses, and camouflage theory, which suggests sex differences in female presentation of ASD.

¹ Although the established thesis title uses the term "gender", recent developments in the literature since thesis proposal have reinforced the distinction between "sex" and "gender" (Strang, 2020). For the purposes of the current study, "sex" is the construct of interest, as it refers to sex assigned at birth.

Theories on Sex Differences

Many researchers have claimed that there are genuine sex differences in the likelihood of developing ASD which leads to differences in the prevalence and presentation of ASD. One prevailing theory concerning sex-discrepant diagnosis rates is the female protective effect (FPE) theory, or the notion that there is a characteristic inherent in females that reduces the likelihood of developing ASD symptoms (Hull et al., 2020). There are several theoretical and empirical underpinnings of this theory. The variability model suggests that males exhibit greater genetic variability, allowing for a greater incidence of ASD, albeit with less severity (Kreiser & White, 2014; Ferri et al., 2018). The liabilitythreshold model draws on genetic studies to claim that females require higher mutational load to reach the ASD diagnostic threshold (Chakraborti et al., 2020; Tsai et al., 1981; Ferri et al., 2018). Neurobiological findings have aligned with this threshold theory, as pronounced connectivity alterations in sensorimotor and limbic networks within females suggest a greater etiological load for ASD diagnosis, especially considering the negative link between connectivity and ASD symptoms among girls but not boys (Alaerts et al., 2016; Olson et al., 2020). A recent review of sex differences in gut microbiomes among individuals with ASD suggests that differences in autistic phenotype rates could be attributed to excitotoxicity, the diversity and frequency of probiotics in females, and the protective effect of estrogen, among other potential causes (El-Ansary et al., 2020).

The inverse to female protection has also been argued: that males are more susceptible to ASD than females. There is research to support this claim, as fetal testosterone has been linked to many aspects of development and could therefore relate to male vulnerability (Ferri et al., 2018). Other sources of male vulnerability and female protection include sex hormone involvement, sex chromosomes, and unique neurobiological pathways (Ferri et al., 2018; Westeinde et al., 2020). Indeed, research has suggested that there are neurobiological sex differences unique to individuals with ASD, including differences in cortical thickness (Bedford et al., 2020), larger amygdala in males (Baron-Cohen, Knickmeyer, & Belmonte, 2005), and other brain characteristics (Lai et al., 2017).

Despite these genetic, hormonal, and neurobiological underpinnings of the FPE, recent research has suggested that the current sex ratio is underestimating the true number of females with ASD, as females with ASD are often not identified in the diagnostic process (Loomes et al., 2017). Two hypotheses could explain this claim: the expression hypothesis and the perception hypothesis. The expression hypothesis claims that females express less severe ASD traits, whereas the perception hypothesis claims that females' expressions of ASD traits are perceived to be less severe than males' expressions (Chen et al., 2020). Either hypothesis would result in lower rates of diagnosis and both hypotheses have been supported by research. Baron-Cohen et al.'s (2005) theory of the "extreme male brain" supports the expression hypothesis, claiming that the male ASD brain is characterized by a systemizing cognitive/affective style, compared to the female empathizing cognitive/affective style. Supporting the perception hypothesis, research has shown that girls with ASD are rated more positively by conversation partners when compared to boys, despite comparable ASD symptom severity as rated by expert clinicians (Cola et al., 2020). This finding supports the notion that female trait expression is perceived to be less severe than male trait expression. Differential expectations of the sexes may also play a role, as social communication deficits in girls may be viewed as "shyness" during childhood (Micai et al., 2019). Interestingly, sex plays a role in predicted

future perception as well, as when rated at the age of five, boys with ASD are rated as more likely to be perceived as atypical at the age of 15 than girls with ASD (Geelhand et al., 2019). One recent meta-analysis on 103,958 historical assessment scores found evidence for both the expression and perception hypotheses (Chen et al., 2020).

Camouflage theory borrows aspects of both the expression and perception hypotheses and suggests that individuals with ASD mask their symptoms through social reciprocity (behavioral camouflaging), theory of mind (compensatory camouflaging), and other social behaviors that ultimately camouflage ASD traits (Wood-Downie et al., 2020). As it pertains to sex differences in ASD diagnosis rates, the theory is that females with ASD participate in camouflaging behavior more frequently and successfully than males with ASD (Hull et al., 2020). Research has supported this claim, as camouflaging is more common in females with ASD compared to males with ASD (Cook et al., 2021; Schuck et al., 2019), whether operationalized by the discrepancy between external behavior and internal status (Lai et al., 2016) or the Camouflaging Autistic Traits Questionnaire (CATQ; Hull et al., 2019). Similar to findings regarding compensatory patterns of behavior in females with ADHD (Young et al., 2020), research has found significant sex differences in camouflaging among individuals with ASD, whereas there is no significant sex difference in camouflaging among neurotypical individuals (Hull et al., 2019).

Specifically, females with ASD have been shown to endorse and participate in behaviors such as social imitation, maintaining proximity to peers, and weaving in and out of activities (Dean, et al., 2017). In terms of social reciprocity, females with ASD exhibit higher social reciprocity than males with ASD, even with both groups exhibiting similar levels of ASD traits; this sex trend holds for compensatory camouflaging, such as theory of mind (Wood-Downie et al., 2020). As for social relationships, "protective same-age friendships" may help play an inclusive social role supporting camouflage; these types of friendships are more common in females compared to males (Micai et al., 2019) and girls with ASD are predicted to have stronger best-friendships than boys with ASD (Sedge-wick et al., 2018). Females tend to camouflage their symptoms in a variety of social environments, including in front of teachers and parents (Tubío-Fungueiriño et al., 2021). Sex differences in camouflaging may have a neural basis, as neural self-representation has been shown to be uniquely associated with camouflaging behavior in females with ASD (Lai et al., 2018).

The notion that females could be camouflaging their symptoms suggests that they may present with a different symptom profile, which could contribute to better understanding of the reported discrepancy between sexes in ASD diagnosis rate (Bitsika & Sharpley, 2019). However, identifying the difference between symptom presentation and inner experience among females with ASD can be particularly complex (Egerton & Carpenter, 2016; Suckle, 2020). Not only does camouflage produce burden that increases stress, anxiety, and desire for social withdrawal (Allely, 2019b), it may also be a core cause of female underdiagnosis.

The camouflage theory as it pertains to ASD suggests that females express ASD symptoms differently than males, and therefore that the underestimation of ASD among females may be a result of this phenotypic difference, as gold-standard diagnostic measures for ASD are developed using predominantly male samples that best capture classically male ASD traits (Ratto et al., 2018; Young et al., 2018). Indeed, boys are more likely than girls to meet diagnostic criteria for ASD despite exhibiting similar levels of

ASD traits (Dworzynski et al., 2012). These findings suggest that there must be something unique about females that results in underdiagnosis.

Sex Differences in ASD Symptom Domains

The findings on sex differences in ASD symptom presentation are varied. Many studies have suggested that there are little to no differences in ASD symptomatology between sexes (Fulton et al., 2017; Mandic-Maravic et al., 2015; Mussey et al., 2017; Reinhardt et al., 2015). This is especially true when sex groups are matched on cognitive functioning, in which case researchers find no difference in symptom severity or symptom domains between IQ-matched sex groups (Matheis et al., 2019). Further research has corroborated this finding that there are no significant differences in ASD symptom severity between females and males, regardless of IQ-matching (Bitsika & Sharpley, 2019; Tillmann et al., 2018). However, other research findings have identified sex differences in key aspects of ASD (Schuck et al., 2019), suggesting that boys are more likely to be diagnosed with ASD than girls when symptom severity is held constant (Russell, Steer, & Golding, 2011).

Sex differences in specific domains of ASD symptoms have been identified, including the core symptom cluster of RRBs. A recent PRISMA review identified five studies showing no significant difference in RRBs between sexes, 12 studies showing significantly more RRBs in males compared to females, and one study showing some features of RRBs significantly higher in females compared to males (Allely, 2019a). Indeed, there are mixed findings on sex differences in RRBs, but the preponderance of the

literature suggests that males exhibit significantly more RRBs than females, holding across cultures (Frazier et al., 2014; Kaat et al., 2021; Supekar & Menon, 2015; Tillmann et al., 2018; Uljarević et al., 2020; van Wijngaarden-Cremers et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2017). Specifically, research has suggested that females exhibit fewer restricted interests (Antezana et al., 2018; McFayden et al., 2020) and stereotyped behaviors (Antezana et al., 2018) than males. Even when matched on IQ, females exhibit fewer "unusually repetitive/excessive stereotyped behaviors" compared to males as measured by the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS-2; Knutsen et al., 2018). However, a closer look at specific characteristics of RRBs reveals complexity, as although males may commonly exhibit more restricted interests and repetitive behaviors, females have also been found to exhibit more compulsive behaviors and insistence on sameness (Antezana et al., 2018; McFayden et al., 2020). Despite these mixed findings, a recent meta-analysis concluded that female presentations of RRBs are "quantitatively and qualitatively unique," as restricted interests fall along sex lines and repetitive behaviors can take different forms by sex (McFayden et al., 2020; Sutherland et al., 2017).

The research on the symptom cluster of social communication has been similarly complex. One meta-analysis found no significant sex differences in social communication function despite the presence of heterogeneity in symptom presentation (Mahendiran et al., 2019a). A recent multisite study found mixed results, ranging from no sex differences to greater severity for either sex depending on the type of social communication measure and participant age (Kaat et al., 2021). One meta-analysis on individuals with high autistic traits suggested fewer social autistic behaviors in females compared to males (Cook et al., 2021). Similarly, another study found less severe communication

impairment in female toddlers with ASD compared to male toddlers with ASD, as measured by the Battelle Developmental Inventory-2 (BDI-2; Matheis et al., 2019). This finding was in contrast with higher endorsements of language impairments for females on the Baby and Infant Screen for Children with Autism Traits-Part 1 (BISCUIT-Part 1) in the same study. This discrepancy may suggest that expectations of females are higher when it comes to social communication, as the BISCUIT-Part 1 asks for comparison to sameaged peers, whereas the BDI-2 is an observational measure of the individual.

Indeed, other research has suggested that social communication is more greatly affected for females diagnosed with ASD compared to males diagnosed with ASD (Frazier et al., 2014; Mahendiran, 2019b). Specifically, parents report that high-functioning females with ASD exhibit worse communication skills, experience more social problems, struggle more with making friends, and have more social anxiety than males (Micai et al., 2019). When differences in verbal skills are accounted for, females with ASD still exhibit poorer social skills than males with ASD (Howe et al., 2015). In line with camouflage theory, females with ASD exhibit higher social reciprocity and better social affect than males with ASD (Craig et al., 2020; van Ommeren et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2017; Wood-Downie et al., 2020).

Sex Differences in Associated Features of ASD

There are a number of associated features of ASD, or other areas of functioning and behavior involved in identifying and diagnosing ASD, that reflect sex differences in presentation, including language, cognitive, and adaptive functioning. Language delays are the most commonly reported first concern among parents of children with ASD (Chawarska et al., 2007). Females with ASD have been found to exhibit stronger verbal fluency, use of gestures, and detailed emotional autobiographical memories, particularly among high-functioning individuals with ASD, in comparison to males with ASD (Micai et al., 2019). Females with ASD also tend to perform better than males with ASD in terms of pragmatic skills, with a higher occurrence of typical pragmatic language markers in female speech (Parish-Morris et al., 2017; Sturrock et al., 2020). In addition, females exhibit better complex phrase speech (Salomone et al., 2015), greater internalized state language (Kauschke et al., 2016), and superior use of non-verbal gestures compared to their male counterparts (Rynkiewicz et al., 2016). However, a recent review has indicated more mixed findings regarding sex differences in language skills (Estrin et al., 2021).

Research has also suggested that diagnosed females typically present with lower cognitive and adaptive functioning compared to diagnosed males (Frazier et al., 2014; Howe et al., 2015). In terms of adaptive behavior, females with ASD obtain lower scores in communication, leisure, and social skills compared to males with ASD, with females struggling more with daily living skills (Mahendiran, 2019b; White et al., 2017). This finding on daily living skills has been corroborated in other research, with one study also finding that parents of females with ASD reported more challenges in socialization than parents of males with ASD (Ratto et al., 2018). Regarding cognitive functioning, risk of underdiagnosis is especially high for females without intellectual disability (i.e., with an IQ above 70; Micai et al., 2019). It has been argued that higher cognitive functioning may be linked to an improved ability to camouflage ASD traits (Wood-Downie et al., 2020). Indeed, diagnosed females with higher IQ are less likely to meet diagnostic criteria on the

Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R), a semi-structured interview measure of ASD symptoms, suggesting that IQ might have a positive impact on scores on diagnostic measures for girls (Ratto et al., 2018).

Motor skills and sensory processing may also play a role in early caregiver concern, referral, and clinical presentation at the point of ASD evaluation. In terms of motor skills, research suggests that male children with ASD typically perform better than females with ASD on both fine and gross motor skills tasks (Carter et al., 2007; Matheis et al., 2019). These differences appear to occur in adults as well as children (Moseley et al., 2018), although one study found that age may play a role, as researchers found no sex differences in motor skills before the age of four, but also found that females performed significantly worse than boys above the age of four (Wang et al., 2016). Interestingly, one study found fine motor skills to be predictive of social affect differences (typically better in females) among male preschoolers with ASD, but not females (Craig et al., 2020). This finding may establish motor skills as a possible core feature for sex differences in ASD. Research on sensory sensitivities and processing is rather sparse and inconclusive. However, one study found that females with ASD experience more difficulty with sensory processing related to endurance/tone (specifically movement flexibility) compared to boys with ASD (Bitsika et al., 2018); notably, this was only one of the 18 areas assessed by this measure.

Taken together, these findings on ASD traits and behavioral indicators support the presence of a possible female-typical ASD phenotype (FAP; Hull et al., 2020). Moreover, this FAP appears to be characterized by factors (e.g., higher IQ and adaptive skill) that support the masking of social impairments, potentially improving performance on

diagnostic measures and resulting in mis- or under-diagnosis (Ratto et al., 2018). Considering how gold-standard diagnostic measures were developed using predominantly male samples, and thus defining and characterizing the male ASD phenotype, current diagnostic procedures may be inadequate for capturing the FAP and may therefore underestimate female prevalence rates (Loomes et al., 2017). If males and females do present differently, then this predominantly male research population may create bias in the conception of ASD. This conception of ASD informs the diagnostic criteria and assessments that determine the research samples used to further explore ASD, resulting in circularity. Sex differences must be elucidated to inform understanding of ASD and take this understanding into account for diagnostic considerations.

However, most studies use the existing ASD gold-standard measures as inclusion criteria for their research on sex differences in ASD symptoms; this excludes the population that is not identified in the diagnostic process. It is crucial that research on ASD sex differences include all those referred for ASD evaluation, as they compose a group likely to be missed by existing sex-based issues in diagnosis (Ratto et al., 2018). In addition, much of the extant literature is conducted with research-recruited samples comprised of individuals already diagnosed with ASD (Kaat et al., 2021). Drawing from a community sample of children and adolescents referred for clinical ASD evaluation, the present study aimed to address this gap in ASD phenotype research, examining sex differences in comprehensive diagnostic profiles.

Current Study

Sex differences in symptom expression at the point of diagnostic assessment may lead to underdiagnosis of ASD among females, which may be a core factor leading to sex disparities in ASD diagnosis. The present study aimed to examine sex differences in clinical presentation of children and adolescents referred for an ASD evaluation at a community clinic. Specifically, this study aimed to investigate sex differences in ASD traits, language, cognitive and adaptive functioning, motor skills, and sensory processing among children referred for ASD evaluation, both regardless of and accounting for ASD diagnosis. By exploring data gathered at ASD diagnostic visits, a clearer picture of those referred for ASD diagnosis could be obtained, illuminating gaps in diagnosis related to sex differences in clinical presentation. A community sample from an existing clinic not only provides access to a population excluded in research samples, but it also ensures ecological validity in a clinical setting.

Aims and Hypotheses

AIM 1: Differences in ASD symptoms have been identified between males and females with an ASD diagnosis. However, few studies have included those who do not receive an ASD diagnosis in their samples. Therefore, the aim was to explore sex differences in ASD traits among all children and adolescents referred for an ASD evaluation, a group that has been understudied.

> Hypothesis 1a: Based on prior literature indicating that females are diagnosed later than males (Micai et al., 2019), it was predicted that the gap

between age of first concern and age of evaluation would be greater for females compared to males.

Hypothesis 1b: Provided existing literature indicating that females are diagnosed at a lower rate than males, it was predicted that rate of ASD diagnosis among those referred for ASD evaluation would be lower among females compared to males.

Hypothesis 1c: Given existing literature suggesting that males with ASD exhibit more RRBs than females with ASD, it was predicted that females would exhibit fewer RRBs than males.

Hypothesis 1d: Based on previous literature indicating that females with ASD exhibit more social communication deficits than males with ASD, it was predicted that females would perform worse on measures of social communication compared to males.

AIM 2: Differences in other clinical characteristics have been identified between males and females with ASD. To paint a clearer picture of the FAP, the aim was to explore sex differences in a comprehensive set of clinical data among children and adolescents referred for an ASD evaluation.

> Hypothesis 2a: Provided existing literature indicating that females with ASD have stronger language skills than males, it was predicted that female performance on language measures would be better than male performance.

Hypothesis 2b: Based on previous literature suggesting that both adaptive and cognitive functioning are typically lower among females with ASD compared to males, it was predicted that females would exhibit lower levels of functioning in both areas than males at the point of diagnosis.

Hypothesis 2c: Given existing literature suggesting that motor skills are worse among females with ASD compared to males, it was predicted that females would perform worse on measures of fine motor skills compared to males.

Hypothesis 2d: Considering the paucity of research on sex differences in sensory processing, it was predicted that there may be no sex differences in a measure of sensory processing.

AIM 3: Few studies have examined the interaction between sex and diagnosis in a sample of individuals referred for an ASD evaluation. The aim was to examine patterns of phenotypic difference across these two dimensions among children and adolescents referred for ASD evaluation.

Hypothesis 3a: Given existing literature suggesting that boys are more likely to be diagnosed with ASD than girls even when severity of symptoms is held constant, it was predicted that females with ASD would have higher ASD symptom severity than males with ASD. Specifically, it was hypothesized that females referred for evaluation who receive a diagnosis of ASD would have a higher symptom severity than boys who were referred and received a diagnosis.

Hypothesis 3b: Provided prior literature on sex differences in RRBs, it was predicted that there would be a main effect of diagnosis and sex on RRB scores, such that individuals with ASD would exhibit higher RRB scores than individuals not diagnosed, and females with ASD would exhibit fewer RRB scores than males with ASD.

Hypothesis 3c: Considering the role of social communication in camouflage, as well as prior research on camouflage comparisons between ASD and neurotypical groups (Hull et al., 2020), it was predicted that there would be an interaction between sex and diagnosis for social communication, such that females with ASD would present with worse social communication skills than males with ASD, whereas there would be no difference among those not diagnosed with ASD.

Hypothesis 3d: Based on the role of language in camouflage, as well as differences identified in prior research on individuals with ASD, it was predicted that there would be a main effect of sex on language skills, such that there would be greater language difficulties in males with and without ASD compared to females with and without ASD.

Hypothesis 3e: Given existing literature on sex differences in level of functioning, as well as the role of adaptive and cognitive functioning in camouflage, it was predicted that there would be an interaction of sex and level of functioning, such that females with ASD would present with lower levels of functioning than males with ASD, whereas females not

diagnosed with ASD would present with higher levels of functioning than males not diagnosed with ASD.

METHOD

Participants

Participants included all individuals with data in the Alabama Center for Developmental Disabilities Education, Research, and Service: Database (UAB IRB X080117004). This database is comprised of children and adolescents who were referred and clinically evaluated for an ASD diagnosis at UAB Civitan-Sparks Clinics between 2006-2020. The age range of the database participants is from one year to late adolescence. Participants over the age of 18 were excluded. Data collected include a range of diagnoses, sex, ASD severity, and sensory sensitivities, as well as cognitive, adaptive, language, and motor skills. Everyone referred for an ASD evaluation (defined as having been administered an ADOS) was included in the sample, regardless of outcome diagnosis.

Measures

A summary of measures, items, variables, and their involvement in data analysis can be found in Tables 1 and 2. Table 1 pertains to ASD symptoms and level of functioning. Table 2 pertains to language, motor skills, and sensory processing.

Demographic Variables

Demographic information including age, sex, and race were collected during the retrospective chart review process based on caregiver report. Race was subjectively collected through clinician report.

ASD Diagnosis and Symptoms

Diagnosis was determined by clinical judgement from licensed clinicians using the DSM-IV/DSM-5 criteria in use at the time of evaluation and based on the information gathered during the evaluation process. For the current study, an ASD diagnosis included ASD, Autism, Asperger's, and PDD-NOS; other diagnoses fell under the non-ASD category, including ADHD, Developmental Delay, and Language Disorder. Rule-Out ASD was also included in the non-ASD category, as although these participants represent individuals for whom a diagnosis has not yet been determined, they represent an important portion of this sample for whom there remains a question regarding ASD diagnosis, but for whom a diagnosis has not yet been provided with clinical certainty.

Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule, Generic or Second Edition (ADOS-G/ADOS-2). The ADOS-G/ADOS-2 is a standardized semi-structured play-based measure utilized in diagnosing ASD (Lord et al., 2012). The ADOS-2 is considered one of the gold-standard measures for the assessment and diagnosis of ASD (Kanne et al., 2008).

The ADOS-2 is a revision of the ADOS-G, which was the first commercially-available version of the ADOS. Five modules have been developed for individuals across age levels and communicative ability. ADOS-2 scores are based on observations of skills and behaviors of the individual in a variety of play-based circumstances, and scores based on these observations are compiled to yield scores for Social Affect, RRBs, Overall score, and overall Comparison Scores of autism-related symptoms relative to others at the same age and language level (scores from 1 to 10, with higher scores indicating greater severity) that can be used as a measure of symptom severity. The ADOS-G scores can also be used to calculate severity scores on the same scale across modules (Gotham et al., 2009) in this manner. Interrater reliability is excellent for the Social Affect domain (.92-.98), substantial to excellent for the RRB domain (.79-.91), and excellent for Overall score (.94-.97). Test-retest reliability combined across modules is good for Social Affect (ICC = .89), moderate for RRB (ICC = .74), and excellent for Overall score (ICC = .90). Internal consistency for Modules 1-3 is good to excellent for Social Affect (.87-.92) but poor for RRB (.51-.66). However, this poor internal consistency is expected for the RRB domain considering the heterogeneity of the construct (Lord et al., 2012). Specifically, RRB symptoms are less explicitly elicited during ADOS-2 tasks compared to Social Affect symptoms and are therefore more incidental in their occurrence. Furthermore, DSM-5 criteria only require two of four symptoms from the RRB cluster for diagnosis, whereas all social communication deficits must be present for diagnosis; it may be common for autistic individuals to score highly on one item of the RRB domain and low on another. For the current study, Comparison Scores were used as a measure of overall ASD symptom severity observed during the ADOS. In addition, domain-level calibrated severity

scores were calculated based on raw scores for Social Affect and RRBs to measure ASD symptom domain severity, accounting for child characteristics such as age and communicative ability (Hus et al., 2014).

Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R). The ADI-R is a semi-structured, standardized interview administered by clinicians to caregivers of individuals with ASD (Lord et al., 1994). This tool is considered a gold-standard measure for the assessment and diagnosis of ASD, particularly when used in conjunction with ADOS-2 assessment. ADI-R scores use a rating system of 0-3 for behavior and symptoms factoring into total scores where 0 = no definite behavior of the type specified, 1 = behavior of the type specified probably present but defining criteria not fully met, and 2 = definite abnormal behavior of the type described in the definition and coding, with a code of 3 occasionally used to indicate extremely severe behavior. Content areas for the scores include social interactions, RRBs, and communication and language skills. Raw scores in each content area are then compared to the cut-off algorithm to determine whether or not the individual's scores exceed the cut-off for classification of autism. For the current study, the rate of reaching cut-off scores for each of these content area subscales was analyzed. Additionally, age of first concern was measured via parent-report as part of the ADI-R interview. Interrater reliability is reported for each item that contributes to the algorithm, with intraclass correlations exceeding .75 for rater pairs (Lord et al., 1994). Cronbach's alpha was calculated to assess internal consistency within each domain; internal consistency is excellent in the Social Interaction content area (alpha of .95), poor in the RRB content

area (alpha of .69), and great in the Communication content area (alpha of .84). Test-retest reliability is excellent (mean of 91% across all items).

Level of Functioning

Level of functioning, alternatively conceptualized as developmental level, was based on the individual's cognitive and adaptive functioning. This information was gathered in clinic according to clinical judgement of assessments needed, with a typical evaluation incorporating at least a cognitive or adaptive assessment, if not both. For the current study, assessments administered in the clinic were prioritized for analyses. However, in instances where the only assessment was administered in school or another clinic and was determined to be valid by the clinician for case conceptualization, the outside assessment score was used, as long as it occurred within three years of the date of evaluation.

Cognitive Functioning. A variety of measures of cognitive functioning were used in clinic depending on the clinician's judgement: Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development-III, Differential Ability Scales-II, Stanford-Binet Intelligence Scales-5, Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (IV/V), and Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence-II. For the current study, a single cognitive assessment standard score (M =100, SD = 15) per child was selected as a measure of the referred child's cognitive skills.

Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development, Third Edition (Bayley-III).

The Bayley-III is a performance-based tool designed to identify developmental concerns in early childhood (Bayley, 2005). It is designed to assess children from 1 to 42 months

of age. This tool includes measures of cognitive, language, motor, adaptive, and socialemotional skills. For the current study, the Cognitive Scale standard score was used as a measure of the referred child's cognitive functioning. Average internal consistency of the Cognitive Scale across age ranges has been shown to be excellent (.91) and test-retest reliability for the Cognitive Scale has been shown to be good (.81; Bayley, 2006).

Differential Ability Scales, Second Edition (DAS-II). The DAS-II is a measure designed to assess the cognitive skills of children and adolescents aged 2:6-17:11 (Elliott, 2007a). In addition to Verbal and Nonverbal cluster standard scores, the DAS-II produces a General Conceptual Ability (GCA) score that was used in the current study as a measure of the referred child's cognitive functioning. Internal consistency of the GCA (.90-.94) has been shown to be excellent, and test-retest reliability (.79-.94) has been shown to be generally good. In addition, correlations with the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children Full-Scale IQ and the Stanford-Binet 4th edition have been shown to be strong (Elliott, 2007b).

Stanford-Binet Intelligence Scales, Fifth Edition (SB-5). The SB-5 is a measure used to assess the cognitive skills of individuals aged 2-85 years (Madaus et al., 2008). It can be used to assess individuals with varying abilities, including individuals with developmental or intellectual disabilities as well as those who are typically developing. For the current study, the Full Scale Intelligence Quotient (FSIQ) standard score was used as a measure of the referred child's cognitive functioning. Internal consistency for the FSIQ is excellent (Cronbach's alpha = .97-.98), test-retest reliability for the FSIQ is strong (.93-.95 across age groups), and interrater agreement is generally good (.74-.97; Madaus et al., 2008).

Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children- Fourth or Fifth Edition (WISC-

IV/V). The WISC-IV/V is a performance-based assessment designed to assess specific and general cognitive skills among children and adolescents ages 6:0-16:11 (Wechsler, 2014a). For the current study, standard scores of Full Scale Intelligence Quotient (FSIQ) were used to quantify overall cognitive functioning. The split-half reliability of the FSIQ (.96), its test-retest reliability (.92), and interscorer agreement for a subset of subtests (.98-.99) are all excellent (Wechsler, 2014b).

Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence, Second Edition (WASI-II). The WASI-II is a performance-based assessment designed to measure specific and general cognitive skills and can be administered to children, adolescents, and adults ages 6-89. This is a briefer format compared to other Wechsler intelligence assessments. For the current study, standard scores of FSIQ based on the 4-subtest battery were used to quantify overall cognitive functioning. The WASI-II has good to excellent internal consistency (.87-.91), acceptable to excellent test-retest reliability (.79-.90), and excellent interrater reliability (.94-.99; McCrimmon & Smith, 2013).

Adaptive Functioning. Adaptive functioning is used to describe independent functioning in everyday life, including communication skills, self-help skills, and socialization, among other domains (Perry et al., 2009). Two different measures of adaptive functioning were used in this clinic depending on the clinician's judgement: Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales-Second/Third Edition or the Adaptive Behavior Assessment Scale-Second/Third Edition. One adaptive standard score (M = 100, SD = 15) per child was used as a measure of the referred child's level functioning, with higher scores indicating greater adaptive functioning.

Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales, Second/Third Edition (II/Vineland-3). The Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales is a semi-structed interview or caregiver question-naire designed to assess personal skills needed in everyday life, including communication, socialization, daily living skills, and motor skills (Sparrow et al., 2016a). For the current study, standard scores of the Adaptive Behavior Composite (ABC) from the Vineland were used to quantify level of functioning. Test-retest reliability for the Vineland-3 has been shown to be acceptable to good, with corrected *r* values from .62 to .94 across adaptive domains and ABCs. Internal consistency has been shown to be excellent (.86-.99). Interrater reliability has been shown to be moderate to perfect (.46-.93) (Sparrow et al., 2016b).

Adaptive Behavior Assessment Scale, II or Third Edition (ABAS-II/3). The Adaptive Behavior Assessment Scale is a caregiver questionnaire designed to assess adaptive skills across the lifespan, with an emphasis on individuals with neurodevelopmental disorders such as ASD (Harrison & Oakland, 2015a). Specific areas assessed using the ABAS include communication, functional academics, leisure, and health and safety, among others. For the current study, the standard score of General Adaptive Composite (GAC) was used to quantify level of functioning. Test-retest reliability for the Parent Form is 0.96 for GAC, and a correlation of 0.82 was calculated between the Vineland and ABAS (Harrison & Oakland, 2015b).

Language Skills

Only one of the following language skill measures was administered to each participant by a speech/language pathologist. Therefore, for the current study one language assessment standard score (M = 100, SD = 15) per child was used as a measure of the referred child's language skills, depending on the language measure they were administered. Higher scores indicate stronger language skills. Separate scores for receptive and expressive language were also explored.

Preschool Language Scales 3rd, 4th, or 5th Edition (PLS-3/4/5). The Preschool Language Scales is a play-based assessment designed to measure language skills across a range of pre-verbal and early literacy levels (Zimmerman et al., 2011a). Commonly used with individuals with ASD, this scale can be administered to children from birth through 7:11 years. Norm-referenced standard scores from the PLS-4/5 were used to measure language skills. Specifically, the Total Language Score was used to quantify general language skills, and Auditory Comprehension and Expressive Communication scale scores were considered to examine receptive and expressive language skills, respectively. Test-retest reliability (.69) has been shown to be good, and both interrater reliability (.50) and internal consistency (.50) have been shown to be fair for the PLS (Zimmerman et al., 2011b).

Clinical Evaluation of Language Fundamentals, 3rd Edition, 4th Edition, Preschool 2nd Edition (3/4, P-2). The CELF-3/4/P-2 is a performance- and observationbased assessment tool designed to screen for and diagnose language disorders or delay among children. The Preschool 2^{nd} edition can be administered to children ages 3-6, and the 3^{rd} and 4^{th} Editions can be administered to children and adolescents ages 5:0 to 21:11 (Semel et al., 2003; Semel et al., 2004a). This measure produces scores for five specific language indices, including Receptive Language and Expressive Language. For the current study, the Core Language Index was used to quantify overall language skills, and the Receptive Language and Expressive Language indices were also used to provide further detail in language skill profiles. Test-retest reliability (.83-.90) has been shown to be good to excellent, and both internal consistency (.95.-.96) and interrater reliability (ICC = .91-.99) have been shown to be excellent (Semel et al., 2004b).

Oral and Written Language Scales, Second Edition (OWLS-II). The OWLS-II is a performance-based assessment tool designed to measure language skills using a global approach (Carrow-Woolfolk, 2011a). It can be administered to individuals ages 3:0-21:11 years. This measure produces scores on four scales: Listening Comprehension, Oral Expression, Reading Comprehension, and Written Expression. For the current study, Listening Comprehension was used to quantify receptive language skills, Oral Expression was used to quantify expressive language skills, and the Oral Composite score was used to quantify overall language skills. The quality of the measure has been supported by the psychometric properties of the composite scores, as test-retest reliability (.85-.90) has been shown to be good to excellent, and both internal consistency (.92-.98) and interrater reliability (\geq .93) have been shown to be excellent (Carrow-Woolfolk, 2011b).

Motor Skills

Only one of the following motor skill measures was administered to each participant by an occupational therapist. However, each measure produces scores on a different standard scale, thereby preventing direct score substitution. Therefore, for the current study one motor skill assessment z-score (M = 0, SD = 1) was calculated from each measure's standard score for each child as a measure of the referred individual's fine motor skills, thus enabling direct comparison. Higher scores indicate better developed motor skills for each measure.

Bruininks-Oseretsky Test of Motor Proficiency, Second Edition (BOT-2). The BOT-2 is an activity-based assessment designed to measure a wide array of motor skills among individuals ages 4:0-21:11 years (Bruininks & Bruininks, 2010). In the clinic, this measure was typically used to assess fine motor skills among participants above the age of 6. The BOT-2 produces scores in the areas of Response Speed, Visual Motor Control, and Upper Limb Speed and Dexterity, as well as a Fine Motor Control composite standard score. The Fine Motor Control composite score is derived from scores on the Fine Motor Precision and Fine Motor Integration subtests, and it can range between 20 and 80, with higher scores indicating better motor skills. Scores are classified as follows: 20-30 = 'well below average,' 31-40 = 'below average,' 41-59 = 'average,' 60-69 = 'above average,' and 70-80 = 'well-above average.' Test-retest reliability (ICC = .97-.99), internal consistency, (.86-.95), and interrater reliability (.98) have all been shown to be excellent (Griffiths et al., 2018). For the current study, the Fine Motor Control composite scores

were used to calculate the motor skill z-score to be included in analyses as a measure of the child's fine motor skills.

Peabody Developmental Motor Scales, Second Edition (PDMS-2). The PDMS-2 is an activity-based assessment designed to measure both gross and fine motor skills among children from birth through age 6 (Folio & Fewell, 2000). It produces scaled scores in domains including Grasping (e.g., manipulating objects, buttoning) and Visual-Motor Integration (e.g., building a block tower, cutting paper), both of which are used to calculate the Fine Motor Quotient (FMQ) composite score (M = 100, SD = 15). The FMQ is a standard score ranging from 35 to 165, with higher scores indicating more developed fine motor skills. Scores are classified as follows: less than 69 = 'very poor,' 70-79 = 'poor,' 80-89 = 'below average,' 90-110 = 'average,' 111-120 = 'above average,' 121-130 = 'superior,' and greater than 130 = 'very superior.' Interrater reliability (98%) and test-retest reliability (98%) have been shown to be high for the FMQ (Van Hartingsveldt et al., 2005). The internal consistency among subtests ranges from .89 to .96 (Folio & Fewell, 2000). For the current study, Fine Motor Quotient composite scores were used to calculate the motor skill z-score to be included in analyses as a measure of the child's fine motor skills.

Sensory Processing

Only one of the following sensory processing measures was administered to each participant by an occupational therapist. Each measure produces a score on a different

scale. However, percent agreement between the Sensory Profile and the Sensory Processing Measure Home Form has been shown to be 81.8% when scores are collapsed into two categories (Hansen & Jirikowic, 2013). Therefore, for the current study one sensory processing score per child was transformed into Sensory Atypical or Sensory Typical dichotomous categories to allow for valid substitution of any of the following assessment scores as a measure of the referred individual's sensory processing and sensitivities.

Sensory Processing Measure, Home/School/Preschool (SPM). The SPM is a rating-based assessment designed to measure sensory processing difficulties based on teacher or caregiver report (Parham et al., 2007a). This measure can be used for children ages 5 to 12 years. The SPM produces *T*-scores (M = 50, SD = 10) measuring sensory processing, including categories such as Hearing, Touch, and Taste and Smell. These *T*-scores can be placed into three different interpretive ranges: Typical range (*T*-score range of 40 to 59), Some Problems range (*T*-score range of 60 to 69), and Definite Dysfunction range (*T*-score range of 70 to 80). For the current study, the Total sensory *T*-scores in the Some Problems and Definite Dysfunction ranges were classified as Sensory Atypical, and scores in the Typical range were classified as Sensory Typical. Test-retest reliability (ICC = .96-.97) and internal consistency (.93-.94) have been shown to be excellent (Parham, et al., 2007b).

Short Sensory Profile, First/Second Edition (SSP-2). The SSP-2 is a brief rating-based assessment tool designed to measure sensory processing patterns based on
teacher or caregiver report (Dunn, 2014a). This measure can be used for children from birth to 14:11 years. The SSP-2 produces raw scores on 4 quadrants including Seeking, Avoiding, Sensitivity, and Registration, with higher scores indicating greater sensitivity. These raw scores result in a designation of "much less than others"/ "much more than others" (scores past 2 SDs from the mean), "less than others"/ "more than others" (scores between 1 and 2 SDs from the mean), and "just like the majority of others" (scores within 1 SD from the mean). For the present study, the Total sensory scores were collapsed into two categories, with scores in the "much less"/"much more" and "less"/"more" categories classified as Sensory Atypical, and scores in the "just like the majority of others" categories classified as Sensory Typical. Test-retest reliability (ICC = .97), internal consistency (.86), and interrater reliability (.82-.88) are all good to excellent. Correlations between SSP and SSP-2 quadrant scores range from -.80 – -.88 and are all significant, p < .01(Dunn, 2014b).

Procedures

ASD Database

Procedures for the larger Alabama Center for Developmental Disabilities Education, Research, and Service: Database studies were approved by the Institutional Review Board. The information in the database was gathered during routine interdisciplinary clinical evaluations at the UAB Civitan-Sparks Clinics and entered into the database. Specific procedures for the current study were separately approved by the Institutional Review Board (UAB IRB-300005602-005).

For the purposes of the current study, only the information that is relevant was extracted from intake forms and reports. In addition to diagnoses based on clinical judgement, specific assessments and their scores were also utilized for analyses. Children were evaluated by licensed clinicians using a variety of assessments to measure ASD severity, cognitive and adaptive functioning, language skills, motor skills, and other domains of developmental functioning as part of their interdisciplinary assessments. For the purposes of the current study, the standardized assessments that are pertinent to obtaining a view of ASD-related symptoms and functioning were reviewed. ASD measures were administered by independent or site-reliable clinicians with research training using these measures, although the purpose of these assessments was clinical.

Data Analysis

The original combined dataset included 1,100 potential participants. All participants with an ASD or non-ASD diagnosis were included in the final dataset. The data were screened for entry errors, and errors were either corrected or deleted prior to conducting statistical analyses. Main analyses incorporating only variables with complete data were analyzed using the original dataset. However, given expected high rates of missingness across most outcome variables due to clinical procedures, all main analyses incorporating variables with missing data were conducted using multiple imputation with 20 imputed data sets, with age, sex, and ASD diagnosis included as auxiliary variables. Multiple imputation analyzes individual parameters in the generalized linear model, and therefore provides t-test statistics for orthogonal contrasts rather than F-tests for pooled contrasts; ANOVA results reflect this difference. Similarly, chi-square tests of

independence utilized logistic regression for imputed variables and are therefore represented with F-values. Descriptive statistics were analyzed for the whole original sample as well as the diagnostic and sex groups to identify any potential outliers in the data, defined as z-score values exceeding 3.29. Imputed datasets were inspected for violations of ANOVA, chi-square, and t-test assumptions prior to data analysis. Patterns of missingness were examined for all independent variables by sex and ASD diagnosis using chisquare analyses.

Regarding the first aim, an independent samples t-test was conducted to examine sex differences in the amount of time between first concern and evaluation. A chi-square test of independence examined the relation between sex and likelihood of receiving an ASD diagnosis. To explore sex differences in ASD symptoms, an independent samples ttest was conducted to examine sex differences in ADOS RRB domain-level calibrated severity scores, and a chi-square test of independence examined the relation between sex and likelihood of reaching or exceeding diagnostic cut-off scores for the ADI-R Restricted, Repetitive, and Stereotyped Patterns of Behavior (RRB) content areas. Similarly, an independent samples t-test was conducted to examine sex differences in ADOS Social Affect domain-level calibrated severity scores, and a chi-square test of independence examined the relation between sex and likelihood of reaching or exceeding diagnostic cutoff scores for the ADI-R Qualitative Abnormalities in Reciprocal Social Interaction (Social Interaction) content area.

Regarding the second aim, independent samples t-tests were conducted to examine sex differences in language skills, cognitive and adaptive skills, and fine motor skills. Similar analyses exploring sensory processing were contingent on data frequency meeting the predetermined threshold required for sufficient statistical power, as sensory data were collected in the clinical dataset less frequently than other variables.

Regarding the third aim, two-way factorial ANOVAs were conducted to examine interactions and main effects of sex and ASD diagnosis on ASD symptoms, including ADOS Comparison Scores, ADOS RRB domain-level calibrated severity scores, and ADOS Social Affect domain-level calibrated severity scores. Next, chi-square tests of independence were performed to examine sex and ASD as main effects and interactions as they relate to the rate of reaching or exceeding ADI-R RRB and Social Interaction content area cut-off scores. Finally, two-way factorial ANOVAs were conducted to examine interactions and main effects of sex and ASD diagnosis on associated clinical features, including cognitive functioning, adaptive functioning, and language skills.

RESULTS

Preliminary Analyses

Participants were 1,099 individuals with an average age of 5.49 years (SD=3.33 years). Participants were 25.11% female. The sample was 60.5% White and 85.0% non-Hispanic/Latino (Table 3). Overall, 54.78% of participants were diagnosed with ASD following their evaluation, whereas 31.21% were given another diagnosis, and 14.01% received no diagnosis (Table 4). Means and standard deviations for key outcome and clinical variables by sex can be found in Table 5.

Individual data points were missing at different rates across participants (see Table 5 for frequencies). Chi-square tests of independence indicated that males were more likely to be missing language data ($X^2(1, N = 1099) = 20.67, p < .001$), whereas individuals not diagnosed with ASD were more likely to be missing ADI-R data ($X^2(1, N = 1099)$) = 6.85, p = .009; Total N with ADI-R = 870). This missingness was most likely due to clinician judgement during evaluation based on low perceived likelihood of ASD diagnosis. Missingness on other dependent variables was not related to sex or ASD diagnosis. Given high percentages of missingness across most outcome variables, main analyses were conducted using multiple imputation with 20 imputed data sets, with age, sex, and ASD diagnosis included as auxiliary variables. Analyses examining rate of ASD diagnosis were conducted using the original dataset, as all data were present; all other analyses were conducted using the imputed data. Those test statistics reflect pooled data across 20 imputations.

One participant was deleted from the dataset due to invalid data. The data were screened for outliers. No values on the primary variables of interest exceeded a z-score of 3.29, indicating there were no outliers. Data were inspected for violations of ANOVA, chi-square, and t-test assumptions prior to data analysis. The assumption of homogeneity of variances across sex was met for each imputed dataset, as measured by Levene's test for equality of variances using p < .05. The assumption of normality was also violated for all ADOS measures (RRB, Social Affect, Comparison Score) given the expected binomial distribution that characterizes severity scores in this kind of clinical population that included both ASD and non-ASD participants. Transformations were attempted but unsuccessful without altering interpretation of the data; however, t-tests are often considered robust to violations of normality, so parametric procedures were still used for analyses (Rasch et al., 2007). All other assumptions were met.

ASD Symptoms and Processes

An independent samples t-test revealed a significant difference between males and females in the amount of time between age of first concern and age at evaluation (t(254.34) = 3.41, p < .001). Specifically, females referred for an ASD evaluation exhibited significantly greater difference in time between age of first concern and age of evaluation compared to males (M = 56.09 months, SD = 40.28 vs. M = 46.94, SD = 35.20), indicating that there was a greater delay from concern to diagnosis for females compared to

males in the current sample. A chi-square test of independence indicated that there was a significant relationship between sex and ASD diagnosis ($X^2(1, N = 1099) = 5.12, p = .024$), such that females referred for an ASD evaluation were less likely to be diagnosed with ASD compared to males referred for an ASD evaluation. However, this association was small, $\varphi = .07$, p=.001. Frequencies of ASD diagnosis by sex can be found in Table 4.

A two-way factorial ANOVA indicated a significant main effect of ASD diagnosis on ASD symptom severity (t(19583) = 29.56, p < .001), such that individuals diagnosed with ASD exhibited more severe ASD symptoms based on the ADOS Comparison Score compared to individuals not diagnosed with ASD. The model indicated no significant main effect of sex on ASD symptom severity (t(15269) = -0.75, p = .456) or interaction between sex and ASD diagnosis on ASD symptom severity (t(38562) = 0.11, p =.915).

An independent samples t-test was conducted and revealed a significant difference between males and females on ADOS RRB domain-level calibrated severity scores (t(5156.5) = -3.59, p < .001). Specifically, females exhibited significantly less severe RRBs compared to males. A chi-square test of independence indicated a significant relation between sex and percentage reaching or exceeding cut-off scores for the ADI-R RRB content area (F(1,687.31) = 6.60, p = .010). Specifically, females were less likely to reach diagnostic algorithm cut-offs for RRBs than males, suggesting a higher likelihood of clinically significant RRB symptoms reported by parents for males compared to females. This association was small across imputed data sets (Mean $\varphi = 0.085$, Minimum $\varphi =$ 0.062, Maximum $\varphi = .110$; p = .012). A two-way factorial ANOVA on RRB symptom severity indicated a significant main effect of ASD diagnosis on ADOS RRB symptom severity, (t(961.99) = 20.72, p < .001), such that individuals diagnosed with ASD exhibited more severe RRB symptoms compared to individuals not diagnosed with ASD. The model indicated a marginally significant main effect of sex on ADOS RRB symptom severity (t(1077.3) = -1.95, p = .051), such that females referred for an ASD evaluation exhibited less severe RRBs than males referred for an ASD evaluation. The model indicated no significant interaction between sex and ASD diagnosis on RRB symptom severity (t(1602) = 0.06, p = .951). A chi-square test of independence indicated that the relation between sex and percentage reaching or exceeding ADI-R RRB cut-off was not significant for participants diagnosed with ASD (F(1,830.53 = 3.30, p = .070) nor participants not diagnosed with ASD (F(1,311.95) = 1.06, p = .305).

An independent samples t-test was conducted and revealed a significant difference between males and females on ADOS Social Affect domain-level calibrated severity scores (t(13517) = -2.02, p = .043). Specifically, females exhibited significantly less severe deficits in social affect compared to males. A chi-square test of independence indicated no significant relation between sex and percentage reaching or exceeding cut-off scores for the ADI-R Social Interaction content area (F(1,474.29) = 0.62, p = .43) or ADI-R Qualitative Abnormalities in Communication content area (F(1,511.41) = 0.76, p= .385.), suggesting that there were no significant sex differences in the presence of parent-reported social communication deficits.

A two-way factorial ANOVA on Social Affect symptom severity indicated a significant main effect of ASD diagnosis on ADOS Social Affect symptom severity (t(6940.1) = 23.70, p < .001), such that individuals diagnosed with ASD exhibited more severe Social Affect symptoms compared to individuals not diagnosed with ASD. The model indicated no significant main effect of sex on Social Affect symptom severity (t(10860) = -1.01, p = .313) or interaction between sex and ASD diagnosis on ASD Social Affect symptom severity (t(12701) = 0.68, p = .496). A chi-square test of independence indicated that the relation between sex and percentage reaching or exceeding ADI-R Social Interaction cut-off was not significant for participants diagnosed with ASD (F(1,3903.31) = 0.15, p = .701) nor participants not diagnosed with ASD (F(1,1110.07) = 0.19, p = .662).

Associated Clinical Features

Independent samples t-tests revealed no significant differences in receptive language (t(417.12) = -0.41, p = .681), expressive language (t(343.74) = -0.01, p = .991), or total language skills (t(352.86) = 0.14, p = .886) between males and females. Similarly, independent samples t-tests revealed no significant differences in cognitive skills (t(190.44) = =1.54, p = .125) or adaptive skills (t(88.81) = -1.23, p = .223) between males and females. No significant differences in fine motor skills were found between males and females, t(223.27) = -0.66, p = .508. Sensory data frequency was inadequate to achieve sufficient statistical power to explore sex differences in sensory processing.

DISCUSSION

The present study sought to examine sex differences in the clinical presentation of children and adolescents referred for an ASD evaluation. Participants were evaluated for ASD using standardized measures at the UAB Civitan Sparks Clinics (N=1099). Results indicated higher rates of ASD diagnosis among males compared to females, as well as greater delays in accessing evaluation services following initial parental concerns for females compared to males. Results also indicated greater ASD symptom severity for males compared to females across symptom clusters but did not indicate any significant sex differences in associated clinical features such as language, cognitive and adaptive functioning, and fine motor skills. These patterns of sex differences were identified only for the entire group of children referred for an ASD evaluation; no sex differences were identified among those diagnosed with ASD.

Regarding processes influencing ASD evaluation, the gap in time between age of first concern and age at ASD evaluation was 0.76 years greater for females compared to males, and females were referred for an ASD evaluation 0.64 years later than males, on average. This was expected given research indicating up to one year later age at diagnosis and greater delay in referral to mental health resources for females (Gesi et al., 2021; Micai et al., 2019; McDonnell et al., 2021; Harrop et al., 2021), and further elucidates a delay in obtaining ASD evaluation that is unique to females. The current findings indicated that not only were males referred for an ASD evaluation at a higher rate than females, but

males were also diagnosed with ASD at a higher rate at the point of evaluation. This pattern was expected and is broadly consistent with current sex differences in diagnosis rates, as the female-to-male ratio for all those referred was 1:3.9, and the female-to-male ratio of those diagnosed following evaluation was 1:4.5, compared to the roughly 1:3 female-to-male ratio established in the literature for the general population (Loomes et al., 2017). Boys have been found more likely to receive an ASD diagnosis compared to girls when symptom severity is held constant (Russell et al., 2011), and boys are more likely than girls to meet diagnostic criteria at similar levels of overall autistic-like traits (Dworzynski et al., 2012). Taken together, these findings suggest that there may be something different about males and females in the ASD referral and evaluation process, in line with theories including expectancy biases, sex stereotypes, social camouflaging behavior, or ASD symptom presentation (Cola et al., 2020; Lai & Szatmari, 2020).

ASD Symptoms

A major component of the first aim was to examine sex differences in ASD symptoms using gold standard ASD diagnostic measures. The results indicated no sex differences in overall symptom severity based on ADOS Comparison Scores. This finding is consistent with prior research indicating that there are few to no differences in overall ASD symptomatology between sexes (Fulton et al., 2017; Mandic-Maravic et al., 2015; Mussey et al., 2017; Reinhardt et al., 2015). This similarity in overall symptom severity between sexes is particularly true when groups are matched on cognitive functioning, and there were no significant differences in cognitive functioning between males and females in this study (Matheis et al., 2019; Prosperi et al., 2021).

The results did, however, indicate quantifiable sex differences in specific ASD domains as assessed by gold standard measures. Regarding RRBs, the results were consistent across method of measurement. As measured by the ADOS, females exhibited lower RRB symptom severity than males. Furthermore, as measured by the ADI-R, males referred for an ASD evaluation were more likely to reach or exceed the diagnostic cut-off for the RRB domain, indicating that parents were more likely to report clinically significant RRB symptoms for males compared to females referred for an ASD evaluation. These findings are consistent with the preponderance of literature indicating that females with ASD exhibit fewer RRBs compared to males with ASD (Frazier et al., 2014; Kaat et al., 2021; Supekar & Menon, 2015; Tillmann et al., 2018; Uljariević et al., 2020; van Wijngaarden-Cremers et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2017). Of note, this sex difference on the ADI-R was present for the overall group referred for an ASD evaluation, but not for the ASD or non-ASD groups on their own. Given the nature of this sample, this finding could reflect the referral process more broadly, as research has suggested that the most commonly used ASD screeners may under-identify RRBs among toddler and preschoolaged girls (Ros-Demarize et al., 2020).

The results were mixed regarding sex differences in social affect. It was predicted that females would exhibit more severe deficits in social affect compared to males referred for an ASD evaluation. However, results indicated that females referred for an ASD evaluation exhibited less severe deficits in social affect on the ADOS compared to males referred for an ASD evaluation. Contrary to those findings, ADI-R results indicated no significant sex differences in diagnostic classification for either Social Interaction or Communication ADI-R content areas. These findings were contrary to previous

research indicating that females with ASD have worse social communication skills (Frazier et al., 2014; Mahendiran, 2019b; Micai et al., 2019). However, the extant research remains mixed, as a recent systematic review suggested fewer social autistic behaviors in females with high autistic traits compared to males with high autistic traits (Cook et al., 2021). Similarly, camouflage theory suggests that social communication skills such as social reciprocity and social affect may be better developed in females with ASD, a trend that could apply to this sample (Craig et al., 2020; van Ommeren et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2017; Wood-Downie et al., 2020). More narrow measures of social communication skills outside of gold standard ASD measures (e.g., peer engagement, social motivation, social attention) support these findings, identifying a similar trend to that of sex differences in non-autistic individuals (Wood-Downie et al., 2021). Regarding differences between ADI-R and ADOS findings, research suggesting less severe communication impairment in female toddlers with ASD compared to male toddlers with ASD also indicated higher parent-report of social communication symptoms for females compared to observation of symptoms for females, despite the overall pattern of sex differences (Matheis et al., 2019). This discrepancy between parent-report and observation aligns with the pattern of differences identified in the present study among all those referred for an ASD evaluation. Lastly, recent studies have identified no sex differences in social compensation and negligible differences in social and communicative behaviors among individuals with ASD, in line with the nonsignificant findings on the ADI-R (Kaat et al., 2021; Livingston et al., 2019; Ratto et al., 2018; Tillmann et al., 2018).

Overall, results of the current study identified a mixed pattern of quantifiable differences in the clinical presentation of ASD symptoms among a broad clinical sample of children and adolescents referred for an ASD evaluation. Although there was no significant difference in overall symptom severity as measured by the ADOS, results indicated less severe RRBs in females compared to males, consistent across observation and parent-report measures. Findings also indicated less severe social communication deficits for females compared to males as measured by the ADOS, but no significant differences in likelihood of clinically significant social communication deficit symptoms reported by parents on the ADI-R. Overall, more consistent differences were identified with the ADOS compared to the ADI-R, consistent with research suggesting that the ADOS better captures sex differences compared to the ADI-R (Lefort-Besnard et al., 2020). There were no changes in the pattern of sex differences between individuals diagnosed with ASD and individuals not diagnosed with ASD; rather, patterns of sex differences were present for the whole sample of individuals referred for an ASD evaluation. This sample is unique, in that it includes those who are not diagnosed but still present with a concern for ASD. In this way, the mixed findings in comparison to existing literature could reflect the inclusion of those who would not typically be diagnosed with ASD based on these gold standard measures, a group of particular interest for investigations of the FAP. Overall, males were more likely to be diagnosed with ASD and females experienced a greater gap between age of first concern and age at evaluation, suggesting a delay in initial access to evaluation services, as well as a difference in diagnostic rate at the point of evaluation. This pattern of sex differences regarding ASD symptoms and clinical processes warrants future investigation of other factors influencing clinical presentation, including associated clinical features.

Associated Features

Another primary aim of the study was to explore other skills and behaviors that may influence clinical presentation between males and females, including cognitive, adaptive, language, and motor skills. Regarding language skills, it was hypothesized that females would exhibit stronger language skills than males, particularly with regard to expressive language. This hypothesis aligned with camouflage theory, as language and expressive communication skills can serve as compensatory mechanisms for "masking" ASD symptoms (Hull et al., 2020). However, the results did not support this hypothesis, as there were no significant differences in language skills, including receptive and expressive language skills, between sexes or diagnoses (i.e., ASD vs. non-ASD). While it has been previously demonstrated that females with ASD demonstrate stronger verbal skills and complex speech production than males with ASD (Micai et al., 2019; Salomone et al., 2015), the current study's findings indicate that language deficits in individuals referred for an ASD evaluation did not differ by sex, regardless of diagnostic outcome. A recent review indicated mixed findings in the literature regarding sex differences in language skills (Estrin et al., 2021). Regarding camouflage theory, language skills should not be conflated with social skills, social communication, or quality of conversation. Females with ASD have been shown to exhibit subtle linguistic differences and communication patterns (e.g., heightened social group focus in speech, different patterns of pronoun use) that are not likely to be captured in typical language measures but may influence perception and camouflage ability (Song et al., 2020).

It was hypothesized that females would exhibit significantly lower cognitive and adaptive skills overall than males, including an interaction between sex and ASD

diagnosis, such that females with ASD would present with lower cognitive and adaptive skills than males with ASD, and females not diagnosed with ASD would present with higher levels of functioning than males not diagnosed with ASD. This hypothesis also aligned with camouflage theory (i.e., higher cognitive functioning linked with greater ability to camouflage ASD traits; Wood-Downie et al., 2020), as well as literature indicating that females diagnosed with ASD typically present with lower cognitive and adaptive functioning compared to males diagnosed with ASD (Frazier et al., 2014; Howe et al., 2015; Mahendiran, 2019b; White et al., 2017). However, there were no significant differences in cognitive or adaptive skills by sex or diagnosis in the current sample. This is consistent with more recent research suggesting that there may be no sex differences in cognitive ability among individuals diagnosed with ASD (Duvall et al., 2020), including the largest multisite study on sex differences to date, which acknowledged negligible differences in early cognitive abilities (Kaat et al., 2021).

It was also hypothesized that females would exhibit worse fine motor skills compared to males, given previous findings that male children with ASD typically perform better than females with ASD on both gross and fine motor tasks (Carter et al., 2007; Matheis et al., 2019). However, there were no significant differences in fine motor skills between sex or diagnosis in the current sample. Of note, no research has investigated sex differences in individuals referred for an ASD evaluation using these clinical measures; in this way, the present study is breaking new ground, and unexpected findings may not be surprising. Given the current study's unique sample, which included individuals not diagnosed with ASD, it is possible that those referred for an ASD evaluation who appropriately received no ASD diagnosis may have influenced these findings, as prior research has demonstrated no sex differences in motor skills among non-ASD groups (Matheis et al., 2019). Furthermore, effect sizes identified in existing literature have been small, and sex differences in motor skills have been identified primarily for those with cognitive delay, whereas the current sample presents with a range of cognitive functioning. Similarly, age effects have been demonstrated in prior research, such that preschool children with ASD exhibit sex differences in motor skills, whereas older children do not (Wang et al., 2016). Future research should continue to investigate sex differences in motor skills within this population, as the literature remains sparse, particularly regarding a broader sample of individuals referred for an ASD evaluation.

Although no significant sex differences were identified for associated features, these findings reinforce the sex differences identified regarding ASD symptoms, as similarity on other phenotypic variables suggests that sex affects ASD symptom presentation above and beyond other developmental factors influencing clinical presentation (Kaat et al., 2021). Furthermore, extant literature on sex differences in ASD phenotype has largely examined only those diagnosed with ASD, thereby excluding those who may be missed by current diagnostic procedures capturing the characteristically male ASD phenotype. Findings from the current study may reflect this unique sample, as sex differences identified in research samples may not be as clear when examining the phenotype of the broader ASD spectrum. Given findings from this study indicating no sex differences in associated features in this broader sample, future research should continue to investigate clinical presentation for individuals presenting with an ASD concern, regardless of final diagnosis, to more fully account for other factors that may influence an ASD diagnostic evaluation.

Limitations

While the current study utilized a novel sample in comparison to many previous studies, there are several limitations that must be addressed. First, although the current study attempted to account for those who may be falling through the diagnostic cracks and are therefore missed in current research investigating FAP, there is likely still a crucial portion of the female autistic population being missed by the current research; namely, those who are not referred for an ASD evaluation in the first place. Future research should utilize creative recruitment and identification techniques, including prospective data collection among high-risk populations, to include this population of interest in phenotypic research to elucidate the nature of sex differences among all those presenting with autistic symptoms. Furthermore, by including all those referred for an ASD evaluation at this tertiary care clinic, this sample may have also included "neurotypical" individuals, for whom sex differences in ASD symptoms, camouflaging, and associated clinical variables do not apply (Hull et al., 2019).

Additionally, the current study used multiple assessments to measure the same variable, under the assumption that each separate measure and corresponding score represented comparable constructs (e.g., several types of cognitive assessments). This range of measures is a result of the clinical evaluation process, as assessments were administered according to clinical relevance due to factors such as age and referral concern. Using scores from different assessments to represent the same construct is a strategy often used in ASD research due to the nature of retrospective clinical data collection, despite the possibility that different measures are assessing the construct in different ways (Ratto et al., 2018). Also as a result of retrospective data collection, some measures could not be included in analyses due to low frequency (e.g., sensory sensitivities), and multiple imputation was used to account for patterns in missingness across all clinical measures. Future research should consider additional features influencing clinical presentation such as sensory sensitivities. As a result of the cross-sectional study design, longitudinal data analysis could not be conducted to examine the roles of age, time, and changes in clinical practice in female symptom presentation and measurement, an important area for future research.

Another limitation of the current study was the use of broad categories and scores (e.g., rate of meeting or exceeding ADI-R cut-off; ADOS domain-level calibrated severity scores) to account for ASD symptom presentation. This approach was used due to differences in assessment item administration based on factors such as age and verbal level. However, item-level analysis would be beneficial to elucidate the nuances in observed and reported symptoms, allowing for a more detailed account of sex differences across ADOS and ADI-R measures, particularly given mixed findings across assessment instruments within the current study.

Implications and Future Directions

Given the sex discrepancy in ASD diagnosis rates, an understanding of the factors influencing diagnosis for females is critical in order to ensure accurate and adequate diagnostic processes. Prior research has investigated sex differences in ASD clinical presentation, and although findings suggested quantifiable differences in factors influencing ASD diagnosis, the findings have been mixed. Furthermore, gold standard measures used for ASD evaluation have been developed based on the predominantly male ASD phenotype, suggesting that females presenting differently may be missed by current diagnostic procedures. By expanding the sample to include all those referred for an ASD evaluation, the current study includes a portion of those missed by extant literature that examines only individuals already diagnosed with ASD. As expected, the finding showed quantifiable sex differences in ASD symptom presentation with females referred for an ASD evaluation exhibiting less severe RRBs and social communication deficits than males referred for an ASD evaluation. Furthermore, there were no sex differences in other associated features such as cognition, adaptive skills, language, and fine motor skills, indicating that sex differences in clinical presentation may be specific to ASD symptoms. Although there may be participants in this sample who are truly not on the autism spectrum, the finding of sex differences in all ASD symptom clusters suggests that future research should continue to investigate those who may be missed by current gold standard diagnostic instruments.

This study's unique sample of individuals referred for an ASD evaluation raises questions regarding sex differences in the factors influencing the referral process as well. Whereas some research has indicated the possibility that girls require more ASD traits than boys to receive an ASD diagnosis (Estrin et al., 2021), it does not appear that this pattern applies to ASD referral. It is possible that many females with ASD who are misor under-diagnosed are not referred for an ASD evaluation in the first place. The current study's finding indicating a greater gap between age at initial concern and age at ASD evaluation supports this possibility, and it suggests that further investigation of sex differences in the ASD evaluation referral process is needed. In additional to critical review of

early screening practices, research must continue to investigate the roles of educational personnel, medical providers, and parents in the process of seeking evaluation, as well as the efficacy of interventions aimed at improving knowledge and interpretation of female symptom presentation for children with concern for ASD. Furthermore, among those who are referred for an ASD evaluation, males are still diagnosed at a higher rate compared to females, a possible reflection of a male bias in measures used for diagnosis. In addition to continued research examining sex differences in clinical presentation of individuals with a concern for ASD, investigation of the early identification and referral process for ASD may more clearly elucidate factors influencing current sex differences in referral for evaluation, symptom presentation, and subsequent diagnosis.

REFERENCES

- Alaerts, K., Swinnen, S. P., & Wenderoth, N. (2016). Sex differences in autism: a resting state fMRI investigation of functional brain connectivity in males and females. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 11(6), 1002-1016.
- Allely, C. (2019a). Exploring the female autism phenotype of repetitive behaviours and restricted interests (RBRIs): a systematic PRISMA review. *Advances in Autism*, 5(3), 171-186.
- Allely, C. S. (2019b). Understanding and recognizing the female phenotype of autism spectrum disorder and the "camouflage" hypothesis: a systematic PRISMA review. *Advances in Autism*, 5(1), 14-37.
- Antezana, L., Factor, R. S., Condy, E. E., Strege, M. V., Scarpa, A., & Richey, J. A. (2018). Gender differences in restricted and repetitive behaviors and interests in youth with autism. *Autism Research*, 12(2), 274-283.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Knickmeyer, R.C., & Belmonte, M.K. (2005). Sex differences in the brain: implications for explaining autism. *Science*, 310, 819–823.
- Bayley, N. (2005). *Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development, Third Edition* [measurement instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Bayley, N. (2006). Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development, Third Edition: Technical Manual. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Bedford, S. A., Park, M. T. M., Devenyi, G. A., Tullo, S., Germann, J., Patel, R., Anagnostou, E., Baron-Cohen, S., Bullmore, E. T., Chura, L. R., Craig, M. C., Ecker, C., Floris, D. L., Holt, R. J., Lenroot, R., Lerch, J. P., Lombardo, M. V., Murphy, D. G. M., Raznahan, A.,...Chakravarty, M. M. (2020). Large-scale analyses of the relationship between sex, age and intelligence quotient heterogeneity and cortical morphometry in autism spectrum disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 25, 614-628.
- Bitsika, V., Sharpley, C. F., & Mills, R. (2018). Sex differences in sensory features between boys and girls with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *51*, 49-55.

- Bitsika, V., & Sharpley, C. F. (2019). Effects of diagnostic severity upon sex differences in behavioural profiles of young males and females with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49, 4429-4440.
- Bruininks, R. H., & Bruininks, B. D. (2010). Bruininks-Oseretsky Test of Motor Proficiency, Second Edition [measurement instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Carrow-Woolfolk, E. (2011a). Oral and Written Language Scales, Second Edition [measurement instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Carrow-Woolfolk, E. (2011b). Oral and Written Language Scales, Second Edition: Examiner's Manual. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Carter, A. S., Black, D. O., Tewani, S., Connolly, C. E., Kadlec, M. B., & Tager-Flusberg, H. (2007). Sex differences in toddlers with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37, 86-97.
- Chakraborti, B., Verma, D., Guhathakurta, S., Jaiswal, P., Singh, A. S., Sinha, S., Ghosh, S., Mukhopadhyay, K., Mohanakumar, K. P., & Rajamma, U. (2020). Genderspecific effect of 5-HT and 5-HIAA on the threshold level of behavioral symptoms and sex-bias in prevalence of autism spectrum disorder. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13, 1375.
- Chawarska, K., Paul, R., Klin, A., Hannigen, S., Dichtel, L. E., & Volkmar, F. (2007). Parental recognition of developmental problems in toddlers with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(1), 62-72.
- Chen, M., Marraccini, M. E., Simeonsson, R. J., Lu, X., & Chang, Y. (2020). Modeling and explaining sex differences in the prevalence of autism spectrum disorder. OSF Preprints. <u>https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/kbev3</u>
- Cola, M. L., Plate, S., Yankowitz, L., Petrulla, V., Bateman, L., Zampella, C. J., de Marchena, A., Pandey, J., Schultz, R. T., & Parish-Morris, J. (2020). Sex differences in the first impressions made by girls and boys with autism. *Molecular Autism*, 11, 49.
- Cook, J., Hull, L., Crane, L., & Mandy, W. (2021). Camouflaging in autism: a systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 89, 1-16.
- Craig, F., Crippa, A., De Giacomo, A., Ruggiero, M., Rizzato, V., Lorenzo, A., Fanizza, I., Margari, L., & Trabacca, A. (2020). Differences in developmental functioning profiles between male and female preschoolers children with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research*, 13(9), 1537-1547.

- Dean, M., Harwood, R., & Kasari, C. (2017). The art of camouflage: gender differences in the social behaviors or girls and boys with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism*, 21(6), 678-689.
- Dunn, W. (2014a). *Short Sensory Profile, Second Edition* [assessment instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Dunn, W. (2014b). *Short Sensory Profile, Second Edition: User's Manual*. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Duvall, S. W., Huang-Storms, L., Presmanes Hill, A., Myers, J., & Fombonne, E. (2020). No sex differences in cognitive ability in young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50, 1770-1785.
- Dworzynski, K., Ronald, A., Bolton, P., & Happé, F. (2012). How different are girls and boys above and below the diagnostic threshold for autism spectrum disorders? *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(8), 788-797.
- Egerton, J., & Carpenter, B. (2016). *Girls and autism: Flying under the radar, a quick guide to supporting girls with autism spectrum conditions*. Retrieved August 2, 2020 from <u>https://www.nasen.org.uk/resources/resources.girls-and-autism-flying-under-the-radar.html</u>
- El-Ansary, A., Bhat, R. S., & Zayed, N. (2020). Gut microbiome and sex bias in autism spectrum disorders. *Current Behavioral Neuroscience Reports*, 7, 22-31.
- Elliott, C. D. (2007a). *Differential Abilities Scales, Second Edition* [measurement instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Elliott, C. D. (2007b). *Differential Abilities Scales, Second Edition: Introductory and Technical Handbook.* Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Estrin, G. L., Milner, V., Spain, D., Happé, F., & Colvert, E. (2021). Barriers to autism spectrum disorder diagnosis for young women and girls: a systematic review. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *8*, 454-470.
- Ferri, S. L., Abel, T., & Brodkin, E. S. (2018). Sex differences in autism spectrum disorder: a review. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 20, 9.
- Folio, M. R., & Fewell, R. R. (2000). *Peabody Developmental Motor Scales* [measurement instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Fombonne, E. (2009). A wrinkle in time: from early signs to a diagnosis of autism. Journal of the Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 48(5), 463-464.

- Frazier, T. W., Georgiades, S., Bishop, S. L., & Hardan, A. Y. (2014). Behavioral and cognitive characteristics of females and males with autism in the Simons Simplex Collection. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 53(3), 329-340.
- Fulton, A. M., Paynter, J. M., & Trembath, D. (2017). Gender comparisons in children with ASD entering early intervention. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 68, 27-34.
- Geelhand, P., Bernard, P., Klein, O., van Tiel, B., & Kissine, M. (2019). The role of gender in the perception of autism symptom severity and future behavioral development. *Molecular Autism*, 10, 16.
- Gesi, C., Migliarese, G., Torriero, S., Capellazzi, M., Omboni, A. C., Cerveri, G., & Mencacci, C. (2021). Gender differences in misdiagnosis and delayed diagnosis among adults with autism spectrum disorder with no language or intellectual disability. *Brain Sciences*, 11(7), 912.
- Gotham, K., Pickles, A., & Lord, C. (2009). Standardizing ADOS scores for a measure of severity in autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Dis*orders, 39(5), 693-705.
- Griffiths, A., Toovey, R., Morgan, P. E., & Spittle, A. J. (2018). Psychometric properties of gross motor assessment tools for children: a systematic review. *BMJ Open*, 8(10), e021734.
- Hansen, K. D., Jirikowic, T., (2013). A comparison of the sensory profile and sensory processing measure home form for children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics*, 33(4), 440-452.
- Harrison, P., & Oakland, T. (2015a). *Adaptive Behavior Assessment System, Third Edition* [measurement instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Harrison, P., & Oakland, T. (2015b). Adaptive Behavior Assessment System, Third Edition: Examiner's Manual. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Harrop, C., Libsack, E., Bernier, R., Dapretto, M., Jack, A., McPartland, J. C., Van Horn, J. D., Webb, S. J., Pelphrey, K., & the GENDAAR Consortium. (2021). Do biological sex and early developmental milestones predict the age of first concerns and eventual diagnosis in autism spectrum disorder? *Autism Research*, 14(1), 156-168.

- Howe, Y. J., O'Rourke, J. A., Yatchmink, Y., Viscidi, E. W., Jones, R. N., & Morrow, E. M. (2015). Female autism phenotypes investigated at different levels of language and developmental abilities. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45, 3537-3549.
- Hull, L., Mandy, W., & Petrides, K. V. (2017). Behavioural and cognitive sex/gender differences in autism spectrum condition and typically developing males and females. *Autism*, 21(6), 706-727.
- Hull, L., Lai, M. C., Baron-Cohen, S., Allison, C., Smith, P., Petrides, K. V., & Mandy, W. (2019). Gender differences in self-reported camouflaging in autistic and nonautistic adults. *Autism*, 24(2), 352-363.
- Hull, L., Petrides, K. V., & Mandy W. (2020). The female autism phenotype and camouflaging: a narrative review. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 7, 306-317.
- Hus, V., Gotham, K., & Lord, C. (2014). Standardizing ADOS domain scores: separating severity of social affect and restricted and repetitive behaviors. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(10), 2400–2412.
- Kaat, A. J., Shui, A. M., Ghods, S. S., Farmer, C. A., Esler, A. N., Thurm, A., Georgiades, S., Kanne, S. M., Lord, C., Kim, Y. S., & Bishop, S. L. (2021). Sex differences in scores on standardized measures of autism symptoms: a multisite integrative data analysis. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 62(1), 97-106.
- Kanne, S. M., Randolph, J. K., & Farmer, J. E. (2008). Diagnostic and assessment findings: A bridge to academic planning for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Neuropsychology Review*, 18(4), 367-384.
- Kauschke, C., van der Beek, B., & Kamp-Becker, I. (2016). Narratives of girls and boys with autism spectrum disorders: gender differences in narrative competence and internal state language. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46, 840-852.
- Kirkovski, M., Enticott, P. G., & Fitzgerald, P. B. (2013). A review of the role of female gender in autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Dis*orders, 43(11), 2584-2603.
- Knutsen, J., Crossman, M., Perrin, J., Shui, A., & Kuhlthau, K. (2018). Sex differences in restricted repetitive behaviors and interests in children with autism spectrum disorder: an Autism Treatment Network study. *Autism*, 23(4), 858-868.

- Kopp, S., & Gillberg, C. (2011). The Autism Spectrum Screening Questionnaire (ASSQ) Revised Extended Version (ASSQREV): an instrument for better capturing the autism phenotype in girls? A preliminary study involving 191 clinical cases and community controls. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 32(6), 2875-2888.
- Kreiser, N. L., & White, S. W. (2014). ASD in females: are we overstating the gender difference in diagnosis? *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 17, 67-84.
- Lai, M. C., & Szatmari, P. (2020). Sex and gender impacts on the behavioural presentation and recognition of autism. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 33(2), 117-123.
- Lai, M. C. Lerch, J. P., Floris, D. L., Ruigrok, A. N. V., Pohl, A., Lombardo, M. V., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2017). Imaging sex/gender and autism in the brain: Etiological implications. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 95, 380-397.
- Lai, M. C., Lombardo, M. V., Ruigrok, A. N. V., Chakrabarti, B., Auyeung, B., Szatmari, P., Happé, F., Baron-Cohen, S., & MRC AIMS Consortium (2016). Quantifying and exploring camouflaging in men and women with autism. *Autism*, 21(6), 690-702.
- Lai, M. C., Lombardo, M. V., Chakrabarti, B., Ruigrok, A. N. V., Bullmore, E. T., Suckling, J., Auyeung, B., Happé, F., Szatmari, P., Baron-Cohen, S., 7 MRC AIMS Consortium (2018). Neural self-representation in autistic women and association with 'compensatory camouflaging'. *Autism*, 23(5), 1210-1223.
- Lefort-Besnard, J., Vogeley, K., Schilbach, L., Varoquaux, G., Thirion, B., Dumas, G., & Bzdok, D. (2020). Patterns of autism symptoms: hidden structure in the ADOS and ADI-R instruments. *Translational Psychiatry*, 10, 257.
- Livingston, L. A., Colvert, E., Social Relationships Study Team, Bolton, P., & Happé, F. (2019). Good social skills despite poor theory of mind: exploring compensation in autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry & Allied Disciplines*, 60(1), 102-110.
- Loomes, R., Hull, L., Mandy, W. (2017). What is the male-to-female ratio in autism spectrum disorder? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *56*(6), 466-474.
- Lord, C., Rutter, M., DiLavore, P. C., Risi, S., Gotham, K., & Bishop, S. (2012). Autism diagnostic observation schedule, second edition. Torrance, CA: Western Psychological Services.
- Lord, C., Rutter, M., & Le Couteur, A. (1994). Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised: a revised version of a diagnostic interview for caregivers of individuals with

possible pervasive developmental disorders. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 24(5), 659-685.

- Madaus, G. F., Lynch, C. A., & Lynch, P. S. (2008). Stanford-Binet Intelligence scales. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, 11(3), 5-11.
- Mahendiran, T., Brian, J, Dupuis, A., Muhe, N., Wong, P., Iaboni, A., & Anagnostou, E. (2019a). Meta-analysis of sex differences in social and communication function in children with autism spectrum disorder and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10, 804.
- Mahendiran, T., Dupuis, A., Crosbie, J., Georgiades, S., Kelley, E., Liu, X., Nicolson, R., Schachar, R., Anagnostou, E., & Brian, J. (2019b). Sex differences in social adaptive function in autism spectrum disorder and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10, 607.
- Mandic-Maravic, V., Pejovic-Milovancevic, M., Mitkovic-Voncina, M., Kostic, M., Aleksic-Hil, O., Radosavljev-Kircanski, J., Mincic, T., & Lecic-Tosevski, D. (2015). Sex differences in autism spectrum disorders: Does sex moderate the pathway from clinical symptoms to adaptive behavior? *Scientific Reports*, 5, 1-8.
- Matheis, M., Matson, J. L., Hong, E., & Cervantes, P. E. (2019). Gender differences and similarities: Autism symptomatology and developmental functioning in young children. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49, 1219-1231.
- Mattila M. J., Kielinen, M., Linna, S. L., Jussila, K., Ebeling, H., Bloigu, R., Joseph, R. M., & Moilanen, I. (2011). Autism spectrum disorders according to DSM-IV-TR and comparison with DSM-5 draft criteria: An epidemiological study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 2011, 50(6), 583-592.
- McCrimmon, A. W., & Smith, A. D. (2013). Review of the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence, Second Edition (WASI-II). *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 31(3), 337-341.
- McDonnell, C. G., DeLucia, E. A., Hayden, E. P., Penner, M., Curcin, K., Anagnostou, E., Nicolson, R., Kelley, E., Georgiades, S., Liu, X., & Stevenson, R. A. (2021). Sex differences in age of diagnosis and first concern among children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 50(5), 645-655.
- McFayden, T. C., Antezana, L., Albright, J., Muskett, A, & Scarpa, A. (2020). Sex differences in an autism spectrum disorder diagnosis: are restricted repetitive behaviors and interests the key? *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 7, 119-126.

- Micai, M., Caruso, A., Fatta, L. M., Fulceri, F., & Scattoni, M. L. (2019). Gender differences in high-functioning autism: implications in everyday life and clinical settings. *The Italian Journal of Gender-Specific Medicine*, 5(2), 90-97.
- Moseley, R. L., Hitchiner, R., & Kirby, J. A. (2018). Self-reported sex differences in high functioning adults with autism: a meta-analysis. *Molecular Autism*, 9, 33.
- Mussey, J. L., Ginn, N. C., & Klinger, L. G. (2017). Are males and females with autism spectrum disorder more similar than we thought? *Autism*, 21(6), 733-737.
- Olson, L. A., Mash, L. E., Linke, A., Fong, C. H., Müller, R.A., & Fishman, I. (2020). Sex related patterns of intrinsic functional connectivity in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, 24(8), 2190-2201.
- Parham, L. D., Ecker, C., Kuhaneck, H. M., Henry, D. A., & Glennon, T. J. (2007a). Sensory Processing Measure [assessment instrument]. Torrance, CA: WPS Publishing.
- Parham, L. D., Ecker, C., Kuhaneck, H. M., Henry, D. A., & Glennon, T. J. (2007b). Sensory Processing Measure, Home Form: Manual. Torrance, CA: WPS Publishing.
- Parish-Morris, J., Liberman, M. Y., Cieri, C., Herrington, J. D., Yerys, B. E., Bateman, L., Donaher, J., Ferguson, E., Pandey, J., & Schultz, R. T. (2017). Linguistic camouflage in girls with autism spectrum disorder. *Molecular Autism*, 8, 48.
- Perry, A., Flanagan, H. E., Geier, J. D., & Freeman, N. L. (2009). Brief report: The Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales in young children with autism spectrum disorders at different cognitive levels. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 39(7), 1066-1078.
- Prosperi, M., Turi, M., Guerrera, S., Napoli, E., Tancredi, R., Igliozzi, R., Apicella, F., Valeri, G., Lattarulo, C., Gemma, A., Santocchi, E., Calderoni, S., Muratori, F., & Vicari, S. (2021). Sex differences in autism spectrum disorder: An investigation on core symptoms and psychiatric comorbidity in preschoolers. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 14, Article 594082.
- Rasch, D., Teuscher, F., & Guiard, V. (2007). How robust are tests for two independent samples? *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference*, 137(8), 2706-2720.
- Ratto, A. B., Kenworthy, L., Yerys, B., E., Bascom, J., Wieckwoski, A. T., White, S. W., Wallace, G. L., Pugliese, C., Schultz, R. T., Ollendick, T. H., Scarpa, A., Seese, S., Register-Brown, K., Martin, A., & Anthony, L. G. (2018). What about girls? Sex-based differences in autistic traits and adaptive skills. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48, 1698-1711.

- Reinhardt, V. P., Wetherby, A. M., Schatschneider, C., & Lord, C. (2015). Examination of sex differences in a large sample of young children with autism spectrum disorder and typical development. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45, 697-706.
- Ros-Demarize, R., Bradley, C., Kanne, S. M., Warren, Z., Boan, A., Lajonchere, C., Park, J., & Carpenter, L. A. (2020). ASD symptoms in toddlers and preschoolers: An examination of sex differences. *Autism Research*, 13(1), 157-166.
- Russell, G., Steer, C., & Golding J. (2011). Social and demographic factors that influence the diagnosis of autistic spectrum disorders. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 46(12), 1283-1293.
- Rynkiewicz, A., Schuller, B., Marhci, E., Piana, S., Camurri, A., Lassalle, A., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2016). An investigation of the 'female camouflage effect' in autism using a computerized ADOS-2 and a test of sex/gender differences. *Molecular Autism*, 7, 10.
- Salomone, E., Charman, T., McConachie, H., & Warreyn, P. (2015). Child's verbal ability and gender are associated with age at diagnosis in a sample of young children with ASD in Europe. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 42*(1), 141-145.
- Schuck, R. K., Flores, R. E., & Fung, L. K. (2019). Brief report: sex/gender differences in symptomatology and camouflaging in adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Jour*nal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 49, 2597-2604.
- Sedgewick, F., Hill, V., & Pellicano, E. (2018). Gender differences in friendships and conflict of autistic and neurotypical adolescents. *Autism*, 23(5), 1119-1132.
- Semel, E., Wiig, E. H., & Secord, W. A. (2003). Clinical Evaluation of Language Fundamentals Preschool, Second Edition [measurement instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Semel, E., Wiig, E. H., & Secord, W. A. (2004a). Clinical Evaluation of Language Fundamentals, Fourth Edition [measurement instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Semel, E., Wiig, E. H., & Secord, W. A. (2004b). *Clinical Evaluation of Language Fundamentals, Fourth Edition: Technical Manual.* Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Song, A., Cola, M., Plate, S., Petrulla, V., Yankowitz, L., Pandey, J., Schultz, R. T., & Parish Morris, J. (2020). Natural language markers of social phenotype in girls with autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 62(8), 949-960.
- Sparrow, S. S., Cicchetti, D. V., & Saulnier, C. A. (2016a). *Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales, Third Edition* [measurement instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.

- Sparrow, S. S., Cicchetti, D. V., & Saulnier, C. A. (2016b). Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales, Third Edition: Survey Forms Manual. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Strang, J. F., van der Miesen, A. I. R., Caplan, R., Hughes, C., daVanport, S., & Lai, M. C. (2020). Both sex- and gender-related factors should be considered in autism research and clinical practice. *Autism*, 24(3), 539-543.
- Sturrock, A., Marsden, A., Adams, C., & Freed, J. (2020). Observational and reported measure of language and pragmatics in young people with autism: a comparison of respondent data and gender profiles. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorder*, 50, 812-830.
- Suckle, E. K. (2020). DSM-5 and challenges to female autism identification. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *51*(2), 754-759.
- Supekar, K., & Menon, V. (2015). Sex differences in structural organization of motor systems and their dissociable links with repetitive/restricted behaviors in children with autism. *Molecular Autism*, 6, 50.
- Sutherland, R., Hodge, A., Bruck, S., Costley, D., & Klieve, H. (2017). Parent-report differences between school-aged girls and boys on the autism spectrum. *Autism*, 21(6), 785-794.
- Tillmann, J., Ashwood, K., Absoud, M., Bölte, S., Bonnet-Brilhault, F., Buitelaar, J. K., Calderoni, S., Calvo, R., Canal-Bedia, R., Canitano, R., de Bilt, A., Gomot, M., Hoekstra, P. J., Kaale, A., McConachie, H., Murphy, D. G., Narzisi, A., Oosterling, I., Pejovic-Milovancevic, M.,...Charman, T. (2018). Evaluating sex and age differences in ADI-R and ADOS scores in a large European multi-site sample of individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48, 2490-2505.
- Tsai, L., Stewart, M. A., & August, G. (1981). Implication of sex differences in the familial transmission of infantile autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 11, 165-173.
- Tubío-Fungueiriño, M., Cruz, S., Sampaio, A., Carracedo, A., & Fernández-Prieto, M. (2021). Social camouflaging in females with autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 51, 2190-2199.
- Uljarević, M., Cooper, M. N., Bebbington, K., Glasson, E. J., Maybery, M. T., Varcin, K., Alvares, G. A., Wray, J., Leekam, S. R., & Whitehouse, A. J. O. (2022). Deconstructing the repetitive behaviour phenotype in autism spectrum disorder

through a large population-based analysis. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 61(9), 1030-1042.

- Van Hartingsveldt, M. J., Cup, E. H., & Oostendorp, R. A. (2005). Reliability and validity of the fine motor scale of the Peabody Developmental Motor Scales-2. *Occupational Therapy International, 12*(1), 1-13.
- Van Ommerenn, T. B., Koot, H. M., Scheeren, A. M., & Begeer, S. (2016). Sex differences in the reciprocal behaviour of children with autism. *Autism*, 21(6), 795-803.
- Van Wijngaarden-Cremers, P. J. M., van Eten, E., Groen, W. B., van Deurzen, P. A., Oosterling, I. J., & van der Gaag, R. J. (2014). Gender and age differences in the core triad of impairments in autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44, 627-635.
- Wang, S., Deng, H., Li, J., Cen, C., Cheng, S., & Zou, X (2016). Sex differences in cognitive and behavioral characteristics in children with autism spectrum disorder indifferent age. *Chinese Journal of Behavioral Medicine and Brain Science*, 25(6), 493-496.
- Wang, S., Deng, H., You, C., Chen, K., Li, J., Tang, C., Ceng, C., Zou, Y., & Zou, X. (2017). Sex differences in diagnosis and clinical phenotypes of Chinese children with autism spectrum disorder. *Neuroscience Bulletin*, 33(2), 153-160.
- Wechsler, D. (2014a). Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, Fifth Edition [assessment instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Wechsler, D. (2014b). *WISC-V: Technical and Interpretive Manual*. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Westeinde, A., Cauvet, E, Toro, R, Kuja-Halkola, R., Neufeld, J., Mevel, K, & Bölte, S. (2020). Sex differences in brain structure: a twin study on restricted and repetitive behaviors in twin pairs with and without autism. *Molecular Autism*, 11, 1.
- White, E. I., Wallace, G. L., Bascom, J., Armour, A. C., Register-Brown, K., Popal, H. S., Ratto, A. B., Martin, A., & Kenworthy, L. (2017). Sex differences in parent-reported executive functioning and adaptive behavior in children and young adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Spectrum Disorder*, 10(10), 1653-1662.
- Wood-Downie, H., Wong, B., Kovshoff, H., Mandy, W., Hull, L., & Hadwin, J. A. (2020). Sex/gender differences in camouflaging in children and adolescents with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 51(4), 1353-1364.

- Wood-Downie, H., Wong, B., Kovshoff, H., Cortese, S., & Hadwin, J. A. (2021).
 Research Review: A systematic review and meta-analysis of sex/gender differences in social interaction and communication in autistic and nonautistic children and adolescents. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 62(8), 922-936.
- Young, H., Oreve, M. J., & Speranza, M. (2018). Clinical characteristics and problems diagnosing autism spectrum disorder in girls. Archives de Pediatrie. 25(6), 399-403.
- Young, S., Adamo, N., Asgeirsdottir, B. B., Branney, P., Beckett, M., Colley, W., Cubbin, S., Deeley, Q., Farrag, E., Gudjonsson, G., Hill, P., Hollingdale, J., Kilic, O., Lloyd, T., Mason, P., Paliokosta, E., Perecherla, S., Sedgwick, J., Skirrow, C., ... Woodhouse, E. (2020). Females with ADHD: An expert consensus statement taking a lifespan approach providing guidance for the identification and treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in girls and women. *BMC Psychiatry*, 20, 404.
- Zimmerman, I. L., Steiner, V. G., & Pond, R. E. (2011a). *Preschool Language Scales, Fifth Edition*. [measurement instrument]. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Zimmerman, I. L. Steiner, V. G., & Pond, R. E. (2011b). *Preschool Language Scales, Fifth Edition: Examiner's Manual.* Bloomington, MN: Pearson.

Table 1

Measure	Item	Primary Variables	Use
ADOS-	Comparison Score	Average Comparison	Hypothesis 3a
G/ADOS-2		Score	
	RRB calibrated domain-	Average RRB severity	Hypothesis 1c
	level severity score	score	3b
			TT (1 · 1

Data Analysis Variables: ASD Symptom and Level of Functioning Measures

G/ADOS-2		Score	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
0/112/01/2	RRB calibrated domain-	Average RRB severity	Hypothesis 1c, 3b
	Social Affect calibrated	Average Social Affect	Hypothesis 1d
	domain-level severity	severity score	3 _c
	score	sevency score	50
ADI-R	Item 2 (Age of First	Age of First Concern	Hypothesis 1a
	Concern)		ingpointons in
	Restricted. Repetitive.	Rate of meeting cut-off	Hypothesis 1c.
	and Stereotyped Patterns	score for RRBs	3b
	of Behavior content area		
	Social Interaction, Qual-	Rate of meeting cut-off	Hypothesis 1d,
	itative Abnormalities in	score for Social Inter-	3c
	Communication content	action, Communication	
	area		
VABS-I*	Adaptive Behavior	Average Adaptive Be-	Hypothesis 2b,
	Composite Standard	havior Composite	3e
	Score	Standard Score	
VABS-II*	Adaptive Behavior	Average Adaptive Be-	Hypothesis 2b,
	Composite	havior Composite	3e
		Standard Score	
Vineland-3*	Adaptive Behavior	Average Adaptive Be-	Hypothesis 2b,
	Composite	havior Composite	3e
		Standard Score	
ABAS-II*	General Conceptual	Average Adaptive Be-	Hypothesis 2b,
	Ability Standard Score	havior Standard Score	3e
ABAS-3*	General Conceptual	Average Adaptive Be-	Hypothesis 2b,
D1 111**	Additive Scale Stand	havior Standard Score	Se Usur otheosis Oh
Bayley-III***	Cognitive Scale Stand-	Average Cognitive	Hypothesis 20,
		Ability Standard Score	Se Hypothesis 2h
DAS-II · ·	UCA	Average Cognitive	Hypothesis 20,
SB 5**	ESIO	Ability Standard Score	JC Hypothesis 2h
5 D- 5	J'SIQ	Ability Standard Score	3e
WISC-IV/V**	ESIO	Average Cognitive	Hypothesis 2h
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	• ~• ~	Ability Standard Score	3e
WASI-II**	FSIO	Average Cognitive	Hypothesis 2b
,,	X	Ability Standard Score	3e
			-

* Indicates that only one Adaptive Functioning assessment was recorded for each participant

**Indicates that only one Cognitive Functioning assessment was recorded for each partic-

ipant

Table 2

Measure	Item	Primary Variables	Use
PLS-4*	Total Standard Score	Average Overall Lan- guage Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
	Expressive Language Standard Score	Average Expressive Language Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
	Receptive Language Standard Score	Average Receptive Language Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
PLS-5*	Total Standard Score	Average Overall Lan- guage Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
	Expressive Language Standard Score	Average Expressive Language Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
	Receptive Language Standard Score	Average Receptive Language Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
CELF*	Core Language Index	Average Overall Lan- guage Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
	Expressive Language Standard Score	Average Expressive Language Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
	Receptive Language Standard Score	Average Receptive Language Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
OWLS*	Oral Composite Stand- ard Score	Average Overall Lan- guage Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
	Oral Expression Stand- ard Score	Average Expressive Language Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
	Listening Comprehen- sion Standard Score	Average Receptive Language Standard Score	Hypothesis 2a, 3d
Peabody**	Fine Motor Quotient	Average Fine Motor Standard Score	Hypothesis 2c
BOT-2**	Fine Motor Composite	Average Fine Motor Standard Score	Hypothesis 2c
SPM-	Total Sensory Systems	Average Total Sen-	Hypothesis 2d
Home***	Standard Score	sory T-Score Classifi- cation	

Data Analysis Variables: Language, Motor and Sensory Measures
SPM-	Total Sensory Systems	Average Total Sen-	Hypothesis 2d
Scnool***	Standard Score	cation	
SPM-Pre-	Total Sensory Systems	Average Total Sen-	Hypothesis 2d
school***	Standard Score	sory T-Score Classifi- cation	
SSP***	Total Standard Score	Average Total Sen- sory Score Classifica- tion	Hypothesis 2d
SSP2***	Total Standard Score	Average Total Sen- sory Score Classifica- tion	Hypothesis 2d

* Indicates that only one Language Ability assessment was recorded for each participant **Indicates that only one Motor Skills assessment was recorded for each participant ***Indicates that only one Sensory assessment was recorded for each participant

Table 3

Diagnosis	Female N (% total females)	Male N (% total males)	Total N (% total participants)
Race			
White	153 (55.5)	511 (62.1)	664 (60.5)
Black	68 (24.7)	208 (25.2)	276 (25.1)
Biracial	5 (1.9)	10 (1.3)	15 (1.4)
Other/Unknown	50 (18.1)	94 (11.4)	144 (13.1)
Ethnicity			
Hispanic	50 (18.1)	115 (14.0)	165 (15.0)
Sex			
Female			276 (25.11)

Participant Characteristics by Sex (N = 1,099)

Table 4

Diagnosis	Female N	Male N	Total N	
	(% total females)	(% total males)	(% total participants)	
ASD	135 (48.9)	467 (56.7)	602 (54.8)	
ADHD	15 (5.4)	35 (4.3)	50 (4.5)	
Developmental Delay	20 (7.3)	57 (6.9)	77 (7.0)	
Intellectual Disability	12 (4.3)	15 (1.8)	27 (2.5)	
Neurodevelopmental Disor-	4 (1.4)	21 (2.6)	25 (2.3)	
der				
Language Disorder	25 (9.1)	77 (9.4)	102 (9.3)	
Mood Disorder	9 (3.3)	15 (1.8)	24 (2.2)	
Behavior Disorder	12 (4.4)	17 (2.1)	29 (2.6)	
No diagnosis	38 (13.8)	116 (14.1)	154 (14.0)	
Other	6 (2.2)	3 (0.4)	9 (0.8)	
TOTAL	276	823	1099	

Frequency of Primary Clinical Diagnoses Resulting From ASD Evaluation, by Broad Diagnostic Category

Table 5

		Female	Male	Total		
Measure	Ν	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	t	р
Age in years	1099	5.97 (3.60)	5.33 (3.22)	5.49 (3.33)	7.210	.007**
Time between first concern and evaluation in years	721	4.67 (3.36)	3.91 (2.93)	4.11 (3.06)	3.41	<.001***
ADOS						
Comparison Score	1049	5.07 (3.00)	5.49 (2.98)	5.39 (2.99)	-2.30	.021*
RRBs	965	5.16 (3.14)	5.97 (3.00)	5.77 (3.06)	-3.59	<.001***
Social Affect	965	5.19 (2.96)	5.61 (2.84)	5.50 (2.88)	-2.02	.043*
Language	836	67.39 (18.74)	66.90 (18.15)	67.03 (18.30)	0.14	.886
Expressive	814	68.99 (17.59)	69.18 (17.46)	69.13 (17.48)	-0.01	.991
Receptive	807	67.19 (18.97)	67.72 (18.79)	67.58 (18.83)	0.41	.681
Cognitive	542	75.44 (19.16)	77.99 (17.92)	77.30 (18.28)	-1.54	.125
Adaptive	487	68.50 (11.69)	69.58 (12.29)	69.30 (12.13)	-1.23	.223
Fine Motor Z-Score	794	-0.013 (1.022)	0.010 (.990)	0.004 (0.997)	-0.66	.508

Means and T-tests Examining Sex Differences in Clinical Measures

p < .05**p < .01**p < .001